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THE P P L E $ T E S T' M 

ail.nterman opens thee case to the ZurY inte 

People,. 

WILLIAM X. FO RD, called as a witnea in be 

of the people, being duly sworn., testifies a 

DIRECT EXAMINATION BY HR. GONMERITAN : 

f0110W43: 

q Where do you live? A 2436 Valentin Avenue 

Q What is your business? A I am a driver for 

Adams Express ComPanY. 

P anY 

Q, And were you in the employ of 

on the 9th day of. January, 1909? 

Q And what office are you'conneeted with? A Well4 

at present I am in the 124th Street and St. Nicholas ATentle; 

but at that time I was in 148th Street and Bergen ATenUe. 

Q And was the defendant also employed at that time in that 

office? A The defendant was money-clerk in the office IWae 

working in. 

Q The branch office at East 148th Street? A Yes sir. 

Q Now, were you working there on the 9th day of ;'anuary? 

A yes, sir. 

Q Did you have any a.o.D. packages to deliver and collect? 

yes sir; I had two. 

Q, And do you remember the amounts? A. One was $88.36 

and the other was g22.50 . 

Q Where was the first one to be de1iTered A Well, . 

one of them was in the rorning and the other one was in the 



• 
, 

afternoon. 0 

 461440.-

e of them , had •to go to losa. 
was delivered at 1099 They had moved. 

Q And do your emembei the name Of the 

was: a man. I had deliveries_ there quite often._ 

Q Well, did you get the money, A Yes s 

money. 

Q And what did you do? Was the other delirm 

morning or afternoon? A That was, n the morninig, 

Q Around wha t time/ A Oh  I Should judge trelltt 

or eleven o'clock. 

Q That did you do With the money?, A On my 're 

office I turned it in to Mr. Whitely Who was Menerm!Cle 

office, 

q How much money did you turn '.07rer to Ur. Vii:t 

turned over s88.36 and 25 cents which the Company charges' 

return the money. 

Q That did you do Did. you deliver that to the 

A That was at no  

Q At noontime? A We used to •settle the momey:st-nestr 

and in the evening around six o'clock. 

Q Now, did you make another deliv:ery on the same day? 

A Yes, sir; in the afternoon, 

where was that? A 1226 Southern Boulevard. 

Q And how much did you receive from the consignee on 

shipment? A $22.50 for the c.o.d. and also a quarter fair 
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turning the money to Philadelphbk 

A, Mid you got that money in cash, I Op 

first deliVery there was offered to those pe 

fused on account of wanting to offer a (thee 

offered for deliVery the second time on the 9th., 

that was the day that he had the‘caeh. Be &Ore ti 

then, the 9th. 

Q What d d you do with that P2A 

to Mr. Whitely. 

Q, In cash? A Yes, sir. 

Q, What time of the 'day did you do that? 

around six o'clock. 

You keep a book of these transactions? 

Q And have you one for this at that 

the book; yes, sir. 

q

 

Now, on these two shipments -- you' turn over this ep 

A One was for $88.36 and the other was $22 504 els° takingra 

quarter for returning the money. 

Q Well, you put down the amount for the first shipment 

and the amount for the second shipment? A I didn't have ViTSIO' 

all added up that way. 

Q Well, $88.36 and $22.50? A Yes4 sir, 

Q Now, have you got that bo0k? A -Yes, sir. (Witness 

produces book.) 

Q You produce it? A Yes, sir. 
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7.1* 

I show you a certain memorandum 1)4 

that is yours2(fthibiting book to witnet 

s by book. 

Q Who makes those entries in there? A 

there myself. 

Q Are these figured here in your awn handtr 

yes sir; those are all my figured. 

Q And were they made at the date set forth 

.A Yes sir. 

Q January the 9th2 A January the 9thd 

Q. And does this contaih an entry in reference to 

packages that you referred to? :,A Yes air; lt Watfai 

them, 

qc will you look at it and specify the .items? 

$22.50 and return charges 25 cents.. 

Q Now, there appears upon •this a rubber at= 

sir.. 

Q Dated January 9th, 1909) Money Clerk Who put that 

stamp upon there? A That is Mr. Whitely stamp. 

Q, And Whitely put it on there? A On 3anuary-9th. 

Q At the time? A At the time I .settled with the moner*. 

Q, It was put on there at the close of the day? A VS 

at noontime and also at the close of the day. 

,and did he sign anything there? A Yee sinf 

his name is on there. 



Did you see him sign his signature the 

Q And .tha was at the close Of the d 

=nay represented here had been delivered? 

one there on the lefthand Side. 

Q Do all of these entries represent c 

A No, sir; each of those figures, that repreisetil 

Ahe register number, al1 the registered numbers 

and When you add them up you --

CI On the first. page there appeared to be 

of $27,3O. Dbes that include the $22.50? 

includes'the m.o.di. and all. 

Q Now, what is the total on the other 

on the other page is $91.88*. 

Q What does that include?, 

y' sheets and•c.o.d. for $88.36: and.almthe retUtu cli 

returning the money. 

And was thiirsignature and stamp put on there 

these totals were made up? A Yes, Sir. 

Q On the 9th day of Januaryt 1909? A Yes, air, 

BY THE COURT: 

Q And by whom/ A (No answer-.) 

MR. GOUT:MUM L offer-that book in evide 

MB. gRAy: No objection. 

(Book received in evidence and markeWPiainti 

Exhiit No.1 of this date,) 
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GOUTERKIAN: 

s:r Did you have a conversation with th 

me A In reference 

Q Yes? A No, 

-money?? 

IQ; Did you 'ever: artier that time hair's!, any cOniter$4. 

the defendant with reference to these moneys?, A Vp. 

MR. OONTRRMANt ,That is 

CROSS EXAMINATION BY BR. GRAY: 

Q HOw long are you employed by the: Adams Ekpree 

A How long?? 

Q, Yes? A About a, year ago last :September, I, think 

You have been first employed? A Driliriate. ,X be 

driver and ran an automobile for a year' 

Q, Always in tha t same position? 

of work. 

Q And you have a helper with you have you  not? 

have a helper'; yes sir. 

Q That was your helper's name at that time? A At ih 

time his name was Frank Smith. 

Q How long had he been with you at-that.time? A HIM 

often was he--

q How long had he been with you at that time? AbOutt 

how long had he been your helper? A Oh, I. could not tear 

you exactly that, about four or five months I guess. 

(1 You knew that he was previously • employed by theeCbm. 

pany as money-clerk? A Yes, sir. 

aftpany? 



0, The smne posiitibn aa Mr. Whitely IOW 

A Yes, sir. 

And you knew that he was taken from t 

department and, put with you at that time?? -A 

not taken and put with me. He was taken to U110 

Be came with me later on. 

you knew that he had filled that pots 

to the time that Whitely there-, money-clerk, dial' 

Q Do you know a man named Wedges that was evipip 

that company? A Ye a, sir. 

Q Before Frank Smith? A No, after Prank. Milt 

Q, And then came Mr. Whitely? A Yes sir.; t 

Mr. Whitely'. 

Q, Now, Tr notine in this book and direct your attell 

that after the sum on one page of $3.22 was coIlectett 

A yes, sir; --

(Continuing)' That there is no line Or b , 

that $3.22 and these: two other' ? A Let 1340 

please? (Tbunsel hands "hook to 41tnestr) What dO you wan 

to do? Explain this total? . 

Q, Explain why they were put on after thit 

this $3.22. Yes, that is for our •charges delivered. 

the c.. o d sepera te , and, of course, I made a grand t 

also the return charges made a footing at the bottom of the 

page. 
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t it is quite possible 

don't say that it is, but it is quite 

amounts coul4 be added on af.ter. that • stamp 

MR. GOITTaRKAN: I object to tha 

THE COURT: Yet, Sustained. 

BY MR. GRAY: 

Now, when did yOu turn in this 88.-00? 

NV The $88-.00 I turned in about at noontime. 

(I. You say you received that 08.00, about 10 t100k 

A Wor 11 ecloCkl around there. 

q When did you receive this 422. 50? A In the Otevnoo. 

q About what time? A About :4 o'clock or five!* 

Q1 And you say you turned that in in the evening-aktil 

six? A Yes, sir. 

Was there anybody present when you: turned it JO 

Well, the drivers that came in. That vas supposed to'beid 

6 o'clock. 

'Q Did you notice Frank Smith'? A Did I notice. Pr40* 

Smith/' 

Q Yea? A 11 could not say whether he was there or 11 

Q Did you notice any little girl at the time that 1501a 

came in there ? A NO, sir. 

Q Do you know Mr. Whitely's daughter? A No sirv 

do not. 

Q, Did you see thLit lady at the .time you were there, 



1 -don't reoc11et seeing the young girl her 

ahilIMI but that VMS 

Q D1d youl ever see, that lady A 

Q You saw her.down there? A No. sir;. 

Q, Now, isn't it a faat that y u put that 

down by itself -- iset it a fact that' on that night 

to Mr. Whitely and told him that you were short?? A 

it is rnt a fact at all. 

Q 'rust a moment. That is enough. Isn't 

you asked him to help you and You' 

$10. now, and $12. next week when yolk got your 

that is a false statement. 
also 

CI And isn't it/a fact that you did not give him any part 

of that 0.2. or $22.50 until next week? A I never- gave it 

to him because I never got anything. 

Q Isn't it a fact that you'cnever gave him any of that 

$22.50 until about a week afterwards, and that you only gave, 

him $10.? A Nb sir; no such thing, I never gaice htm a part 

of that --

q Never mind now. I am asking yaw if that isn't a feet?' 

A I wouldn' t keep any slips other than in those books there. 

Q Describe those slips? A They are 'wide out down at 

148th Street for packages that have been offered for delivery 

once and refused, and come back for a second time. They keep 

a record of them, and then 112-. Whitely 's book that I signed 



lateMt1Preveived the package and wrotolh 

contains my signature when I signed ha book 

Wait .a moment please', don't you keep, 

or receipta2 A r ..They keep trim in 

Q They keep them in the office? A Yes, si 

Q Do you remember turning in the delivery sheet 

A Yes, sir. 

Do you remember turning it in to Mr :Whitelx. 

sir.; to mr. Whitely. 

Q Did you ever have any other trouble of this natur 

Or the same0 

any other money-clerks since you have been there? 

Q Not with Smith? A R 

Q Did you ever while Mr. Whitely was money-clerk 

any money to anybody else? A No, sir. 

Q TO Mr. Kent? A Well, I tell you --

THE COURT. Answer the question. 

Did you ever turn in any money to anybody else) Whilts 

Mr. Whitely was money-clerk? A Yes, sir. 

rn his absence? A Well, he wasn't 'working:* 

Q.When Mr whitely was out at lunch, for instance? 

sir. 

Q Absent from the cage? A No, sir. 

Q, During the time of Mr. Whitelylis incuMbency 

office, when he was money-clerk in the office,' 444 704.-**;.. 

any time deliver any money to anybody else while 10011ilt 

W&8 absent? A Yes, sir. 
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Did you:notice how those receipt-4 

that stamp? A Yes s'ir'; Mr. Kent whenhe woUl 

some, he would. stamp it and sign his name,under 

Q Is there any record in this book of any Wine 

hare returned in to Mx Kent? A Let nieses. I 

you. 

Q Look it over? ('Counsel hands fthibit No0. t 

A Fes sir; here is one(handing took 

Q1 What date is this? 

L. will tell you. 

Q Well, there is no stamp here, however, 

counsel). 

Whitely uses? A No? 

Q No -stamp here either? A NO stamp, just ICent t 

Q Simply a signature here? A Yes sir; that 

ficient. 

Q. Did you see him sign it? A 'yes, sir 

Q How do you account for this after addition Ilere* 

is not made by a carbon sheet, thisrA 5573171r A( 

done with carbon sheets, in that 

Q, Well, this looks as though it was done 

A That is pencil. 

Q Who wrote this? A I made the Whole thing. 

Except Whitely's signature?? A Yes, 01114. 

With a different pencil? A tie air; , with 

pencil. 

A I didn't notice. 
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same pencil as this(indioatin 

q You are sure of that? A I UM 

Q Now, up to the time that this money was, 

Mr. Kent, you had not received any money from Mr 

in this book, had you, or, you  hadet delivered any 1que  

Mr. Whitely until ---you see it is all Kent,- right SIOn 

(Counsel hands Exhibit Na..1 to witness) - A 

that I ever --

Q Now, I am asking you a question, 1 ask you if ylolkir 

did not notice that you haven't delivered any money to 

Whitely on that book up to the time you delivered to Scher 

that entry you made there? A Q. 

Y. GON=RHAN: Is that all? . 

MR. GRAY: That is all for the present. 

witness, however, to remain for a little while to 144*4 

privilege of recalling him. 

RE=DIRECT' EXAMINATION BY MR. GUNZERM AN : 

Q Did anybody use this stamp -'but whttely or t 

money-clerk? A Mr. Whitely is the only one that 1400 

stamp. 

Q Now, you have referred to another book: 

book with youT A Yet, sir. (Witness predi,le64.4 

Q What is this book that you now prodUater 

that that is a book which we enter reports in Of all  e 

sent down to our headquarters, and when you get orders, ir 0010, 



Oó s in the east% 

a record in that book, 

,Q Does this contain a record at 

Yes, sir. 

Q Does that pow when that was first reaelIed far 

ery? A Yes, air. 

And does 

don't show that• 

it show whether it was refused-

Q Well, when was it first receiTed for deliie 

January --well, I could not tell you when it first 

mean  this is the day it first came the office Ow. 

Q What day? A January the ninth. 

Will you turn to the page? A (Witness exam 

Yes, here it is. (Witness hands book tø Mr. Gonteriasn 

indicates page.). ' 

Q Where is this? A This is it right in her 

points to place on 'book). 

Q Now, point out the entry? Does this book con ainle14-

entry of the $22.50 item? A Yes, sir. 

Q And do you remember the name of the consignee' 

Well, Rabe,or Rabbe, I_ could not say which it is. 

Q Well, will you look at that toOk and tell the. name qt. 

the consignee and when it was delivered? (Hands book to Wi*Vk• 

nese) 

MB. GRAY: I object to this. It is entirely' ibmia 

erial and irreleTant when this package was delivered 



7.11117:43;`,2'..j041r, 

THE COURT: Anything- in connectit 

relevant and admissable 

MR.. GONTERMAN: 

BY VLEV. GONTERMAN: 

Q, Now, state what it says there in referen 

delivery? A January; 9th, 1908freading7from bt0 

bundles; of castings 26a: that stands for 260 pa 

ring around it -- register. sheet No, 193, gointr to 

1226 Southern Boulevard. 

Q, And do you see any charges there?' 

Q Is that, the c.o.d package referred to? 

the $22.50. 

Q, Yes, and who signed  the name that is signed there 

A That is my signature when I took it out of the Oftd..0 

Q I. see. That shows the date you took it out Of thi 

off ice? A It shows the date I took It out Of the Of  

delivery. 

Q That entry was made on that date? A On 3armory 9 

ILR . GONTEMAN: Yes, I offer that in evidence. -

BY MR. GRAY: 

Q This is simply your own record? Adats Ekpr 

Gompany. 

Q your records? A No, it is Whitely's own book, 

Tow, who wrote all this stuff in this book? A Th 

ma in charge writes in the book. 



Q, He writes 

or three years old. 

q Oh, it night be? A Yes, sir. 

Q Is there a Ty place in this book where Whitely 

, yes, sir1 

q mean up to this time? A He wrote that in, thi 

well, let me see. 

Q Have you  got any record of this 88,36in that bo 

tt, sir. 

MR. GRAY: Now, I object and ask that all this ttO 

mony in regard to this book be stricken ou 

BY MR. GONTKHNIAN: 

Q, I will ask you, did you make all of those entries 

yourself, in your own handwriting? A No, sir. 

Who made these entries, if you know/ A I can't t 

if I could find them, if I can see theM. 

Q, Whose entry is it in reference to the$22.50? A White*. 

Q And then. you signed your name to it? A When I W0 d. 

take the package, 

0, yes, it is his receipt at the time you got the package 

from Whitely? A Yes, sir. 

Q Did he write all of that itere_ A He wrote it all blk 

my sirmature. 



In his presence? •Yes, sir. 

BY MR. GRAY: 

Q. Just show us what he wrote? A This tr d 

Q, And this is your signature? A Yes . 

What is this $1.95? A That is express .chirges, 

0, Oh, then there is nothing here to identi 

item except your own statement that Whitely_ wrote it and 

.„41.95 charges on it? A That is all. 

Q, By the way 

MR. GRAY: Then, if your Honor please, I will 

that it all be stricken out. 

BY . GRAY: 

0, you delivered other packages to Rabbe? A It hapPeri 

to be five bundles of castings. 

BY THE COURT: 

Who made the entry January 9th, 1,085 etc:.? 

HR. GONTERMAN: Who made that? 

THE WITNESS: That is five bundles, that is itr. iite«. 

ly s writing. 

Q, What is tha Mr. Whitely' s writing. 

THE COUPT: Row is it connected with the transaction? 

HR. GONTERMAN: That is to Show the defendant dheoked 

this out for delivery. 

?ir:E r3OURT: Do you object/ 



MR. GRAY: Yes, your Horiorrl, 

THE COURT:. If this is in any 

the transaction charged in the indic 

a part, of the transaction on a previous da, 

writing of the defendant, of course, it is adviiss 

is for you to say whether or not it is in any Wa 

ed with that transaction. •If it is not, it 

able. If it be, it is admissable. That is an. 

BY MR. GRAY: 

What is this transaction that u mentioned here, 

you have referred to in this sheet? Is this the actual d. 

of the money, or the Or relating.to the d e 

money? A This is where I signed out these five bundli 

castings. 

Q It has nothing to do with the receipt of the 340P 

any part of it? A Not, with the receiving of the miOneyi 

By you from anybody? A No, no that is my 'ADM 

I give Whitely when L took the 'package.. 

BY MR. GONTERHAN: 

It shows, does it not, the date when you got Chat 

package for delivery? A Yes, sir. 

THE COURT: And that package means what package? 

The package for which you collected $22.50? 

TTED COURT: Give the answerMr. Witness? 

Q And that package was what? A Five bundles of east* 



ings, 
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A For which you collected 22.50? A 

lected $22.50  and also a quarter for returning' 

THE'COURr: That is admissable for tWt 

BY MR. GRAY: 

Q I want to ,ask you' again, you testified thW 

here 18 in Mr. Whitely's handwriting? A Yes, Si 

Q You are sure about that, now? 

L seen him write, but L know his writing. 

BY R. GONTERMAN: 

Q Was it written inyour preeence? 

not. 

didn't 0 

Q You are only judging from From my ApiniOn 

hie handwriting. 

Q Was he present when you signed it? 

Did he hand the book to you?. -A He  

that was laying on the counterr: 

BY THE COURT  

handed ,the IttOOk. 

Q Now, how frequently have you seen the defendant write?? 

How often did you See him write? A Well when Lwas working 

TI  COURT: Well, try and answer the questibn. 

BY MR. GONTERMAN: 

Q HOW often have you. seen him write? A well, two or 

threetimes a day. 

Q For how long prior to this day/ A Oh, I guess it was 

well, it rut have been about two months. libatkt two months, L 



Two or three times a day you saw him write 

About two months. 

Q About two months, and y u-saw him actually wr* 

Q, That  number, and during that length of time/ A. 

Q, you are familiar with his writing, are you? A Y 

That is all. 

see him make any •other entries in this rki 

besides this on this sheet, or this one here(indicatix 

THE COURT: Re does not say that he saw 

in this book, point out one time there IF 
there 

saw Whitelj make an entry/Pin that book at ekny time? 

I could not point out once that X PA 

him write, not that I remember him writing. You don't thi 

remember back about 150 pieces? 

L. GAY: I think that, is 

RE -DIRECT -1?AAITI' ATION BY /El. GON.TERLIAN: 

r! t is admitted in evidence for 



( ok admittalin evidence and mar 

it 1To.2 of this date) 

es this book contain all the e*riiii 

Q, It only refers 

Shipments that have been offered for de1very and hare been 

sent downtown to headquarters and retuined to the 

office., came back the second time. It is put in this book 

And therefore it does not contain any reference to t 

other package A Nb sir; it does not. 

Q, ed that is the reasonl 

RE-CROSS EXAMINATION BY HR. GRAY: 

In Whose custody has this book been prior to todayt 

A It has been in the 148th Street Office, 

gave it to you to bring down? A Mr. Kent. 

Q, Did he give you the sheets in reference to this 'an 

Yes sir; but 



THE COURT': Objection suet/404 

MR. GRAY: I will take an excep 

RE-RErCROSS EXAMINATIMTY GONTERHAN:- 

Q You have testified in reference to paying 

money to Mr. Kent? 

Was this befbre January 9th, 1909for subaequcnt 

A Yes sir, 'before January' 9th, 1909. 

Q, What were the dates? A tot me See—.I think 

are about the first two weeks in Deoebbetr, and Mt: 

acting money-clerk at the time, and that is the time 

the money in to M±. Kent. 

q That is the time you turned the money it 'to *IA 

p 

Q About what time was that? 

first of December up to about the 14th or 

Q Mr. Whitely was not working there at the i.e? 

q And was that the only time that you remember 
any 

were driver that you turned/Money in to him? 

0, Veil, how many times, roughly, do you' remerib 



mOnOys in t MT. Kent prior" to January. 1009? 

uary the ninth? 

Q Yes? 

out. 

Well, the time that 1"rank Smith 

Q When was that', if you know? A I could h 

exactly, 

Q. And. these occasions were wheh there was a chat* 

_ 
the money-clerks, is that so? 

1 
A Yes sir, and when this 

ness, was checked out he was acting money alerk. 

ybil do not know the dates nowl 

back that far: 

RE-RE,-CROSS; EXAMINAMLON BY 'MR. GRAY: 

q. Did you turn in any moneys to Mr, Kent -*hi 

ly was money-clerk there? A No. 

Q Do you remember my asking you that quest 

before during your crOde-examination. and answer.ing-

did? A Well, I told you --

Q Now, I ask you if you remember my woiskitt 506i; 

tion twice before during your cross examtmatiPnenVY 

in  me that you did And you answered in the 

saying that you did so, do you remember that? A 

,Can you reconcile that statement withihe,Pne 

make? A yes sir, can I explain Chat) doyoumei.fl 

Q Yes, sir. A You asked me if I paulia.:te 

said now that I had never turned in any moneys t#.11,r ICeA 



I said before that, I did remember 

While Mx. Whitely was money-clerk? A That is 

he.. was working there? That is while he was there!? U 

Whitely was off for a couple of days) sick, or anything, 

would turn the money in to Mr Kent. 

Q Do you know of any time while Whitely was wOrktrit, 

that he was absent from the office on accom 

any other cause? He was only money-clerk there for about 

month, December- 12th to January 12th? About a ra921. 

Q Do you remember any time that ,he was7'abSent 

repeat the quetytiony did you turn La 

ariacatt to Mr: Kent while Lir. W2ite3.y was money-clerk the 

MR. GRAY: That is all. 

RE:pRE4.RE4.DIRECT EXAMINATION BY MR. GON 

Q You did not seeAAr.. Whitely present' at the tiln 

don't  know whether he was sick or not, t 

Well, now, can you specify the date? 
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The smaller book, I can check it back and see it I see any 

at an. (Counsel hands book to witness and witness examinee 

book). 

Q Well, perhaps you can look it over at lunchtiftet? 

MR. GRAY: Let him look it over nOwi this 

sufficiently important matter: 

THE COURT: Are you talking about other tiransactitnit 

. than the transaction.' here at issuer 

MR. GRAY: At any- time: during Mr, White1y:1's inOttn* 

.bency in that office, did he turn in any. moneys to Mr. 
Kent? 

BY ItR', GONTERMAN: 

Q Wait a minute, what have you got? 

sZ, January 16th ? A Yes sir. 

Q, what did you do then? A I turned that *Ott 

to Mr. Kent. 

Q And do you know whether•Mr Whitely Wait in then? 

A Mr., Whitely was there in the  morning, but at nem when it 

came time to settle up, he was gone. 

THE C OURT : We will not haven any more on that poilat. 

BY MR. GRAY : 

4 'Tama* 

Q Didn't you know, as a matter of fact, that Mr; Whitely' 

had left the employ of the Company when thiti entry was made?? 

A No, sir. 

Q You didn't know that? A No, sir. 



* A 4 * 
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A That was Ifinuary,the 16th? A 

Q you didn't know that he had left at thatt 

didn't know he had left at that time. 

BY  NC GONTIRMAN: 

Q Mr. .POrd, these are  the pnly books 

transaction that you know anything about? 

is all I know anything about. 

BY MR. GRAY: 

Q Just a moment, did you see Mx. Kent this,m‘rni 

A yes, sir. 

Q Red a talk with him? A Yes„. sir. 

1:1 Was there anything said to you by Mr. Kent. or  

officer of the Adams Bxpress Company, that if this defendant 

were not convicted, jrou would loose your Job? A no ist 

Q Sure of that? A Yes, sir. 

Q Positive of that? A Yes, sir. 

ct Positive? A Yes sir; positive: 

JAMES POLE Y, called as a witness in 'behalf of 

the People and being duly sworn, testifies as follows: 

DIRACT EXAMINATION BY MR. GUNTHRMAN: 

ger. 

ct what is your business? A Money-olerk, money-mason* 

(4, Are you) in the employ of the Adams Btxpresw CompasylP 

A Yes, sir. 

• 



Q 
Years. 

CI And you were in their employ the •9thAr. 

January, 1909? A Yes, sir, 

How long have you been in their 

And what are your duties? arCUA 

the money for the CcmpanY. 

City, 

ci Where do you go to? A All the office* 

And from wham do you collect the money in th 

Offices? A The cashiers, 

Q And money-clerks? A MOW-clerks 

0 What are your duties with reference to U4140110 

received for m.o.d. padkages? Do you 'collect that alonglath 

other moneys? A Everything is collected; yes, ti 

Q All the moneys that are received by the money iii 

at these branch offices are turned over to you? A Yee sir.; 

(4, That is .A All the money of the 0.0 4 and 

every set tlement for t he Company. 

Q Well, are your duties confined 'to c.o.d. Padkagelt 

A No, everything collected. 

Q I see. Now, you know the defendant? A Yes, sir. 

Q John W. Whitely? A Yes, sir. 

Q You know that he was a money clerk up a one Of the 

branches? A Yes, sir. 

Q What street? A 148th Street and Boron Avenue. 
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you know how long ha has be 

A, Well, he has been there a short while* 

a half, something like Mat. 

Q Now, did you collect around thereon 74 

A yes, sir. 

Q what day was it, the daY of•the week? DO 

A I don't know exactly the day, the day of the •week4 

it wad Saturday. 

Q Well, and you collected around there inour, 

course of business? A Yes Sir. 

Q And what time. of the day did  you oolleo 

have got a regular time, about. Between tire and 

every day. • 

Q I see. At that time did he deliver to you, t 

$88.36? A NO, sir. 

or a certain c.o.d. Package? A Nol, 

Q Did he at any time at all? A If 

ct Did he at any time deliver that sum tio your 

package? A No, sir. 

Q Did you collect again on the 11th? A Ye 

Q And for the purpose of collecting any moneys 

been turned in to him, and did he turn wer ayv 

ct (Continuing) --moneys to you for a oertakift 0,0# 

package of $88.36, on the 11th? A No, sir. 



Now, r call Your attention to 'a oartat 

far 122.50. Did the defendant at any time 'Wen 

over to y'ou? A To sir. 

Q Now, in regard tic these 0.0 settleMent$* 

differ from ordinarreettlements? A Yes, Si 

Theyore made up on seperate Cheets? 

en the one Sheet. 

A But it is a different Sheet? A Differene. 

Q 'Different items? A Yes, sir, 

• AL vhat is the arrangement in refetence to the* 

romittanceS to you? A Well, he had two sheets. Ft 

carbon copy /and an original and r take the carbon,OPpra0 
sign the original copy, and he keeps the copy. 

Q And if any c.o.d. settlements had been made writhe dar-

prior to your ., on the Buie day prior to.yonlovailint; is be 

supposed to turn those over to you, A 141, if he 

them ready that morning. Id he cannat. I mm to get them the 

next day. 

A cq, 

yes, I see. And did you know that time that yout 

on the 9th , or on the 11th, whetherror not; any MAWS 1104 been 

paid in on ttwa, Packages for t88,35 and another one for 

A No, Sir.. 

Q so you did not have any conversation with him in rep 

arms to these partieular-p&OkageS? A NO, sir. 

.50 

Q If it was turned in, it would have been his dmtwto 
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remit to you' at that time?? A Yee, sir. 

Q Would they "Avec, been entered differently in the 110 

mend A A different entry on the sheets. 

Q Upon the same sheets? A Yes, sir. 

sir. 

They were kept seperate-fr.om the other .mOneri? 

Q Then you are positive at no time, either on Zanuary. 

9th, or th4 11th, did the defends-oat turn over to you, two certain 

sums, one for $88.36 and the other for $22.50? A Yea, sir* 

Q The consignment to the Cbrlon Gas Company, 1063 Union 

Avenue; and another a oonsigtmient to a party by the name Of  

Eeibbe at 1226 Southern Boulevard? A'. Yes, sir. 

Q You have examined your records very oarefu3.1y there t? 

A Yes, sir. 

Q And know that the moneys received •i*re not for 

menthi that the tiOneys were never turned orir to 3rtiltitt/Y-111it 39" 

at any time A They do not appear upon any One of my renirds. 

Q And he did not give you any slips showingthe receipt 

of the moneys for the shipments? A No, sir. • 

Q Did you ever have any conversation with him ,at any time, 

in reference to these two shipments? 4 No, sir. 

MR. GONTIIRMAN: I 'think that i a all. 

CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. GRAY: 

Q How were these deliveries made to you, IIrr; Polo/ 70up 

say that the money clerks at the various branches, gave you the 



paCkages of maney,and you gave then a specific reco0 

sheet for every package? A Yes, sir. 

Q Now, have you got that eheet with yoU9 

haven' t got that sheet with me. 

Q Why haven't you got that sheet Wait he gave 

9th day- of January? That ought to show that yotv got that 

$88.? 

MR. GONTXRKAN: You were not asked to pr 

TIM WITTBSS: I wasn't asked to bring :that. 

.BTR. G.RAT: 

You were not told to produce that sheet? 

think he asked me to bring that sheet. 

BY MR. GONTRMAN : 

Q You were not to).ii personally to bring that sheet? 

A No, sir. 

BY UR •GRAY: v 

Q And you *00.00#1°typ the items on that sheet before 

left the money oleph!s cage? A yes, sir. 

Q So that if that money, $88.1had appeared on 00014 

it would appear on the sheet as to the delivery to you  Suppose 

it appeared on that sheet.“Delivered one paokagel$881,1 name Or 

contents, you, have to have that money- before you leave that 

olio? A yes sir, 

ct And you didn't bring that sheet down? A 



vAnow oreica. GONTKRILAN: 

ci then you got any money from Yr. White347$ yo 

receipt for those packages? - A NO, sir. 

AtM 07.117-1nrs, 

Q You diN8t sign an)r receipt for those paekkgen Tnien 

got any money from Mr Whitely? Tow didnf t sign sok?' ehee 

purporttmtto be a receipt for those packages? A 1100 

Q Have you ever been asked to bring any' money Eftw 

as to whether he ever paid, you, any Monera? A No, sirs 

Q There wasn't then, on the sheet, any reference tO these 

two items, $88.36 and $22.50, was there? *A NO, sir 

101-0ROSS-EXAKTNATION BY MR. GRAY: 

Q But you did get a delivery sheet on that 617 fr 

Whitely, didn't you? A Yes sir. 

And that sheet is in oourt? A No sir. 

To your knowledge? A No sir. 

BY MR. GONTERMAN: 

at sheet does not refer to these items at an? 

No, sir. 

Q If you had gotten any sheet for these two 'toms, 

would have had it here, I suppose? A Yes 

You cannot produce anything you have not got? 

Br JUROR WO 

4- The **rens Company What I wanted t 

Znprese Ocomany in the collection of the ellipreaS 

the driver, Of the c.o.d. packages he takes out' 



fOr Chan? 1002` instance', you are a dri 

packages of clothes, does he sign for th' 

stand your question. 

Q Does the driver sign for 'spaokages 

liver, •especially c 0.d.s? 

•BY THE COURT: 

Q When thea driver goes off 'with his cart 

ages -- wait a moment, when the driver. goes off with 

wagon containing packages which he got at your eiliPre80 

does he Sign for the packages which he takes? 

them on a sheet and they take a record. Of them bet 

out of the Office  

Q .Where is that record? A It is in the Office Or 

Company Inew, 

ct Well, is that book here? (No answer) 

BT MR. GONTEIMAN : 

Q, /this book refers to certain kinds of paOkt44104 

know anything about this? A That is not re, linik; 

know anything about that. 

Q Anything about that is no,t in your line? 

in the money line. I handle the money line and tkInd 

thing is not in my line and I cannot tell you any 

GEORGE KENT, called as a wittkesit b 

the People, being duly sworn, testifies al 03.140* - 

DIRECT EXAMINATION BY MR. GONTER.MAN: 



Are you in -the employ. of the Adams 

A yes sir. 

41• And What -branch are you. connected with?, 

'manager of k brandh office at 148th Street and 

And how long have you been connected With 

the Thorough of the Bronxe, do you mean? 

Yes? A In the Borough of the Br nz, I Ii 

nine years with the .Company as agent. 

q Well, were you stationed all the time. at this 

148th Street? A. Yes, sir. 

Q And you are manager, you,saY, of that branOh? 

sir; manager of that branch. 

Q And yOu are familiar, of course, with 

of the branch? A Yes, sir. 

Q And do you know the defendant? A Yee, sir. 

q And what position did he ocoupy there? A He isMO 

clerk. 

q Well now, will you explain briefly to the 

that you direct the business there in reference to  giving 

0,o.d. packages to drivers and what they-are supposed to do 

with them, and Who they are supposed to return thina toi,Nao 

that they w$11 get an idea of the -- of what happens to 

imakesis? A It is customary for a driver to take and del 

It., and if it be a- c.o.d., the driver Irekes it and deliweV6 

and collects the money for it, gets the money from the -0,0414 



brings it back to the Oft 

0, and makes a statement in his 

money clerk, and gets the consignees signature', 

driver, in turn takes a signature from the money •0 

THE COURT: Who in turn does that? 

THE WITNESS: He, the driver; in turn takes a at 

nature from the Money clerk in the small signature 

which is in evidence here. 

BY MR. GONTERMAN: 

Q This book, People's Bxhibit No 1? 

Now, where does ,the driver get the 0 

A Oh, that is handled the same as any ordinary padkug 

from the office, 

Well, does he get anything fro m the monerolett when be 

goes out on a 0 OA. delivery? A No, sir. 

BKW be eign anything to any person when he 

on a a.o.d. delivery? A No sir; 

no, sir'. 

Well, be receipts for the package, doep he not' 

driver/ 

Q, Yes? A The driver receipts for the Package On 

sheet. 

The driver receipt's for the package an a carbon 

A The driver receipts fel. the package on a sorbon she 

that is not given to the money clerk. That Is stiar 

not from the Money clerks; 



records. 

Q Does the money clerk have a record of 'Oa, 

ages are sent .out each day? A Re is furnished 

from .the main office, that is the main office on 124 

Q And what is that record supposed to contain 

is what we call a register. 

Q Now, when a driver goes out on aHO.o,.d. delivery fr 

your branch office, he gets the package_ from .you or wheat? 

A The freight is brought into the office and assorted into 

what we call different routes. 

Q Well, he starts out with the packages• that have 

sorted out for a certain route? A -Yes, sir. 

Q Now, he is supposed to -report that delivery to Ifiga 

A To the money clerk, on his return, 

Q And then take hi si receipt for the money:at that time? 

Yes sir; and the register sheet is rioted on that: book 

Q And the money clerk is supposed to have a state? 

Is supposed to have a stamp, an4the. signature Of the money 

clerk to the stamp which is in his possession aloe. 

q And when he returns this money to the money clerk, 100' 

gets the signature of the money clerk and the stoup? A T. 

sir. 

And then does he sign anything for the ROW 0104, 

A Oh, no. 

cl Now, in reference to padkageswhicb have Moe OffOr. 



for deliverY .0 0.d 
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packages ivhica bete 4be 

for delivery and refused. at happens to th 

A Why, they are sent from the main office, ha 

that is a depot, a main depot where the stuff is 6 

our office, that as we call it that is themain Of: 

is sent over there and we make an intryof it in 

that you have there. 

Q, In this book, people's Exhati No, ? A /A 

And that does not Contain packages except tho 

have been refused? A That is all. 

q Now, as to the duties at this defendant. He had AUthari 

to receive frAW ..the drivers, the moneys received .'t 

upon c.o.d. paOkages, deliVeries, didn't he 

41 Now, that was his duty in reference 

after he had received them? A He was in turn furnioh6d.lo 

a a.o.d. report. 

Q. Yes? A This c.o.d. report,was made out bYltilt 

Shows the 'person's name, and the date, and heawasi in tura.0 

posed to putthis money in the c °ed. report and put the 61011 

in at envelope and seal it and mark it on the outside as to 

what it contained and the following day turn it over to otir 

money messenger, Foley. 

(4, The witness who was just an the etand? A The witnOSS 

who was just an the stand, and he in turn was --

THB COURT: Es there any other war for returning 



money for c.o.d. packages? 

_ THE WITNESS: No sir; that is the on1y licit4Od tha* 

the Adams Express company uses. 

BY THE COURT: 

1:1 And that money would be paid only to the *individual 

mentioned for that purpose A That is al 

No other personueis authorized to receive as ,such? 

A Yes sir; there is no other individual 

Q This individual in this caswwas the witness Foley  

who was just on the stand? A The witness who was just on 

the stand. 

Q what is his name? A jemes Foley. 

BY MR. GONTERMNA: 

Q And the money was to be put there by him in a seperste 
• 

envelope, is that right? A The money lilts to 'be put Whim 

in a separate envelope, yes sir. 

Q Containing the amount? A Yes, sir. 

Now, the defendant, when did he come into your =pie7t 

as money clerk? A Well, I could not exactly say as to the 

date, but I remembe5 the date When he ent4ired the employ Of the 

Adams Express Company. He was employed in the Adams on Deer 

ember lat. 

(4, When? A 1908. 

Q About when did you say he was appointed money clerk 

in your office? A I era not quite positive, but It think it 
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was On December 14th or 15th. 

Q I see and the witness William ,Pord is one Of your 

drivers? A Yes, sir. 

q Now, did you have any personal knowledge of whether,Oi 

not on the 9th of January, any  money was delivered to the 

defendant, and whether or not thoie packages were delivered 

to the driver? Does it come in the course of your duty? 

Oh, no, that would not come in the course of my duty, 

Q When did you first learn or those two transactions? 

A On yanuary the 16th, at 2 o'clock. 

Q Yes? A I received what we call a homer.: A tracer 

is an inquiry from the shipper demanding his return or 1,00t. 

ing for his returns, and I received that in the form of 

ary correspondence, that is, express bill from our man 

That was the witness on the stand before me, 

Q Yes? A And he was present at the time that I 

tioned the defendant and asked him --

A Yes, 

Q 

Well, wait a minute. You got certain information?. 

sir, 

And you started an investigation? A Yes, sir. 

Now, what did you do after. you started that investigat• 

ton? Who did you see, who did you go to see, who did you; 

inform first? A Why, I informed the.money clerk first. 

Who, Mr. Paley? A No air; Mr Whitely. 

Q Oh, lb% Whitely? A I Chen searched the records, both 
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• he wa 

Por What -purpose? A :Pol. .the purpose .of :On 

er or not there .was. any, .possible Chance. ,Of •returning. 

on any other date outside of - the. supPOsed.. 
• 

date was to be January the llth. 

Q, you and the d efendan t searched his Office pioi 

ge th.er? A We searched the defendant office reser-de' 

Q, Did you find any record for the receipt .of the MOne 

for those two items? A No sir; we did not. 

q $88.36 and $22.50? A No, sir. 

Q And did you have a conversation With him in 

to those two items? A Yes sir; I- did. 

Q, When? A After, When I. could not find any teat* 

either one of them. 

Q, What did you first say to him when you) started tO 

search his records? A / said, "Well, what do you knew elbo 

this?. what did you do with the money?" 

Q, What money did you refer to? A The $88.36.: 

Q It was not anything in reference to any other 000 

A No sir; because did not know of that other itemat th*t 

time. 

Q Well, what did he say to you in reference to that? 

A He says,"/ don't know anything about it, / haven't had any 

such money," and when he saw the tracer, the paper in•print‘d. 

form he said,"I will look, and he and I looked, and be Sal 



Mall, /4049 know what became of it So then, / in tarn 

queotihned the driver and got his signature heft. 

Wait a. minute, Did you question the driver in the 

defend an t presence? A yes, sir 

q What did you say? A Then I asked the driver t 

producre his signature book. 

Q What was the driver's name? A William Pord. 

Q, The man who was first on the stand? A Yes, airj 

then I asked him what he knew about it, and asked him to pre-

duce his signature book, and he 'produced, that book. 

Q, He produced this book (Exhi.13iting 'People Exhibit No. 

1)1, A Yes sir; and I exaMined iV 

People's Exhibit 1? A Yee air;; I examined the '1300k. 

we turned over to the entry in question which is here findicati0 

'thee 

Which entry are you now referring to? A The $88.360 

Q And did you show that to the defendant? A Vest sir. 

Q *bat did he say? A He says, ''pthat is my' signaturls 

but I must have got the money. I don't know What becade OF, it, ! 

Q, Did he say anything further in reference to that? 

A yes sir; he did. 

q What did he say ? A And thentof course, when I din* 

covered that he could not find a record of it-, and at that tinst 

MT. poley the money messenger --

Was he there too, A He was there too; yes girl he was 



there and listened to the conversationl 

qWell now, state what oonversationlyoU hadiri 

.defendant 'Whitely, or the other individua? A 

about this item. 

Q Did he say whether, he had paid it over to :P 

Oh no; he did not. 

ct Did he ever make any claim that he bad paid i 

A vo sir; he did not. nv then asked -- Of 0Ouree it *a 

duty for him to sign the'Aoney messenger out, and, 

I *took charge and signed him out but be Was still 

ploy of the Company. 

Q And you did afterwards sign for some money fOr 

in this book? A Oh, that was after he resigned. 

Q Well, on that date did you let him sign for an more 

mOnoY? A Wo sir; not after I found the deficiency. 

(1, And did this driver turn in any more moneys to 

day? A Oh, late at night he did. 

(1 And the defendant -was still'in the emplOy Of the COM,0 

party at that time? He had not been discharged? A Re had 

not been discharged. 

you were simply acting the 

"I mn going and see my uncle. my 

A He told me, he sa3Pa1 

Aalimars has $100: or $15041 

in his possession. and I will get the money from hit, and put it 

in and Chen we will see if we can find it,  and I wanted to 
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ring up the SuperIntendant, the man Who is 

sayni,"Don't do it." Of course that Was witnenied 

the people in the office, but then I did ring• up, 

did he left the office, and I forbade him to leave 

but he was still it the employ of tte oftmagy, 

in about three-quarters of an hour. 

Q Where did be say he was going? A He P 

going to his father in-law to get the money, he liammor 

$100. or a $150. in his possession 

cbuld not give you any account of the mons 

sir; not at all. 

q What time of the day did he Ofts in iater4 
• 

three-quarters of an hour. 

q On :anuary 16th? A Yes St? I remember it - 

that time. 

What did he say when he came in later, the se0Ond time?' 

A He was gone about three-qUarters of an hour, and in the wittio. 

time, I knew there was other chances for 'him to be ahOrif, 44 

of course, I had to be there, and I was widertaking to ehOOk 

up the account, to look if there was any more short, and in 

order to do this, I took in one of the drivers as witng4Ren. 

that is, / called in one)of the drivers as a:witness, 

would not undertake to do it any other way, and g moo:tint 
this cage!, and checked up the books and also inside.e'this 



SO is a Safe, end sts0 this money drawer i tut! 

combinations. 

But you did check up the account's? A Ito 

q You did not find any record of the 0 014'0 

but he found ,when he came in the office • 

What did he do?, A When he came in the Offi0.03* 

this lapse of three-quarters of an hoUrhOdid find this 

driver and myself in-the, cage, and he took out a notebook an 

he put' down my name and the driver's names and of caureal% 

that time he was in the employ' of theOWNws.Y. then 

" I wont stand this any longer, I resign r ght.here and n0S* 

(I Did he hand in his resignation/. A He sent it dont 

by a messenger boy about five o'clock that night., 

(1 He did kit go himself? A No sir; he sent for .11104 

but he would not go. 

Now, after that time. you havethad other donversatisiW. 

with him, have you not? Did you over have a conversationWitli 

him at your office? Did you ever have any other conversation:: 

with the defendant after the 16th in reference to this mattes,• 

•A Not in reference to this; no, sir. 

Q Did you ever have any conversation with him in refer& 

ence to the item of $22.50:? A No sir; because/ did not knOir 

of that for quite a while after. 

Did he ever give you any explanation of the disappear" 

ance of these moneys? A No sir; when I met him we did not 



or that subject at all. 

Q You have told all the conversations you 

him? A yes sir; that is all, to the beet of my 

Q Now, after you got that resignation What 17140 

Was he discharged, or was it accepted? The reeignatiOn 

accepted, Ii assume? A yes sir; of course, I referred 

the main office, / haven't got that hare. 

You have not? A No, sir. 

Q And after you got that be was nt anyaenger in the 

employ of the COmpanyi A No sir; that all happened 0 

16th of xanuarY. 

MR. GONTERMAN: I see. I think that As all, 

CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. GRAY: 

you say that you are the manager Or that branch *Meet 

A Yes sir; I am. 

Q, How long have you been manager. there? , A I have been 

in the Company about fifteen years. 

q I asked you how long you had been their manager there? 

Youi are talking a little too much? A Nine years. 

Q Two years? A Nine years, I said. 

q Nine years? A yes, sir. 

ber the 

in. chargé of that branch eit.a gen AvenUe? A yes, 

When did Mr. Whitely enter your employ A on pecomo. 

first. 

In what capacity? A Re was supposed to break in as a-



A".". 

*Way Clerk. 

q Oat capacity dig he  enter your eRvlosr a 

to break in as a money clerk, that is the captiett 

my employ in. 

Q And was he acting as money eloik at any tine * 

the let and 12th of December? A / could net say. 

think he was acting as money clerk, ycutknow I think it 

**Inewhore.tirOUnd the 14th. I could not be Positive., 

q What was he doing between the lst 

breaking into the business in general. 

Q To your knowledge, he had dot gone hells the liana 

had he, to receive any moneys from anybody? A /1104 

Wnat did you mean then by *Wing that he was to 

into the business as money clerk if he never went near the 

ey cage from the 1st of 'December to the 14th? 

MR. GONTERHNA: Btkplain what you did to break him in? 

THE WITNESS: The man was a green man And he had to 

be shown. 

Ct What dt you mean by that, a green man to that business/ 

A Yes sir; of Course, that issundenstand, of course, he had 

to be shown the duties of the express business in general 

before he could become a money clerk, because he told no htmseit 

he says,"How, I want to have as long a time As possibleabefOre 

I undertake this great responsibility," and I Are him all the 



• Ohande I could, and gradually I would sp. 

him how to make up statements. Now, What day 

tell myself, but I know it was before the tWe 

not before the fifth : 

q What was the name of the money clerk in 

fore he Came there? A What is that? 

Q Mut was the name of the money clerk before 

am notquite positive. I think it was Prank 

Q Don't you know, Mr. Unto that it was Smith? 

I do not. 

Q Do you not know that be was taken fr 

department and put as driver s.helpee 

GONTARRAN: I object to tha 

THE WITNESS: Yes, sir. 

THE COURT: Objection sustained. 

BYE. GRAY: 

Q Tv, is still t4 the employ of the COmpany? 

SIT. 

Q is it usual for the OOmpany to bond the 

A Oh; yes, sir. 

Q was this man bonded? 

MOR. GONTERMAN: It is immatttrial 

ed or not. 

THE COURT: Objection sustained. 

MR. GRAY: I except to that. 



, " • 

BY ZIB COURT: 

is the man bonded? A yes, airs 

• THE COURT: Objection sustained. 

MR. GRAY: If your Honor will allow me to eXplain 

my position. He said that this man entered the employ 

Of the company as a money clerk, 'Now, I want to show a* 
he did not go in as a money clerk. That it was their 

()listen to bond their money clerks and he was never Illends. 

ed; that; he was put right from a clerkship into that 

case. 

THE COURT: How is Oftat)mattorial to this Oifaige? 

MR. GRAY: It is quite material, that the system 

so loose that he might have 

THE COURT: Objection sustained as to the question 

of the bond. 

GRAY: Weep t on . 

BY MR. GRAY: 

Q Now, what time did you usually go to lunch, Mr. Kent? 

A Well, that I could not say exactly. 

Well, about what time, usually? A Well, it .I remember 

rightly, should judge about half past twelve or a quarter to 

one% 

hour. 

q you remained away -- What was the lunch htUri A 



Now, who was in sharge of  the money Oa 

time? A NObody, it was locked up. 

• Q Didn't you have a key to it? PA I have, 

it, but not the safe. 

Cr You did not know the oombinatiom of the see' 

sir. 

Nor the combination of the money' drawer? A NO •airt,• 
II did not. 

Q Did you .eveir,at any tinue during lf.t. Ilkit1748 

there as money clerk, enter that money cage' K Yalt,; 8 

Q On many oocasaions? A Won at any aim when th 

would be a definite ocoaeitn one oceaslion in regard 

tracer.. 

Q, Did you at anY time when he was there? A NO to 

knowledge. It would make no differenee thether:he wae 

Q Were you there on the 16th When he returned tretsann 

yourself and this man Smith? A Yes sir; I was 

Q Well no, at anytime, did you ewr notice, iihe 

the money cage open? A I do not thoroughly underStandAn. 

Q I do not mean open, but I mean not under aaabinatdott 

at the time, ajar? A NO, air 

Did you notice the door of it ajar? A NO, 

Q Did you ever notice anybody else going into Wit =On 

cage there during Mr. Whitely's absence? A NO sir; I did 

not 

tt?....2100 



that is this book., and What is its purpose this book 

that is introduce° in evidence; People's Itchibitlio 21-

A. That is an Office record. 

Q Well, Who keeps it, who has charge of it? 

course, it is under my jurisdiction'. 

(1 Isn't that book lying on the counter outside? A it 

kir  it is not. 

Q It is not supposed to be  under the money clerk's char, 

A Yes sir; he keeps it. Can I explain that in detail? 

Q Yes, go ahead? A Th6 express messenger that comes 

from another office, takes what we call a sheet for ahipments 

that is", a refused shipment is sent out, and is brought bat* 

by the driver, and turned over to the money clerk, and. the 

money clerk return gives his own signature to the driver, and 

he in turn to get his return signature, ,esters it in that 

So it is surely his property. 

What would- he enter in that book? Would he enter the 

amount to be collected, or simply the charges?? A Well,, it 

is simply for the register number, the sheet number: 

Q I show yaw the item here which is marked Tune the ?thy 

can you show me a register number there? (Counsel bands book 

to witness) A Yes sir, 193. 

Q This is simply used) as what we call a waste boa, not 

a commercial book? A No sirt not exactly. It is a very 

valuable book, though. 



Q OW. of couree, waste books are valuable, 

coy entries made from this book showing -every de*. 

the nature of the transaction? A Vol 

Q But it is a book in which one enters these 04.0 

ages, is it not? A Yes, sir. 

q And it is customary to enter in this bloOk the amiAmmit 

to be collected or simply the additional charges? A No,sirl' 

as I explained before; simply the sheet number 

Q And if you take, well say, the c.0 d. packages to 

P. Ratan, there is nothing outside of the fact that P. Rebbe is 

the consignee in this case; there is nothing 'to show, that IS 

no reference to this $22.50, that is missing? A Tha1 

q Is that all the reference there is? A The thee* 

number, yes sir; that is the on17 reference. 

Q Now, that Sheet number, that is the number Of the 

sheet, A Yes, sir. 

Q In whose custody is that sheet supposed to be? A Be* 

fore it is signed, Mr. Counselor? 

Q I mean the sheet, showing SOme authentic delivery Of 

the money from the driver, or if it is otherwise, otherwise? 

showing something in connection with the receipt of the money 

by anybody'? A Yes sir; that is in ,the money clerk's pOss* 

ession. 

Q The sheet of that day would be in the possessiwof 

the office today, would it not? A Not it would not. That 

was the 9thi 



q, HAVe you got the register sheets of that 400 Did yOu 

tho up? A Of the 9th? 

Q, Yes? A Yes sir; and Ur. Whitely also helped me tO 

do it. 

Q After the16.th, after this date? A It was not to be 

found, about that entry. 

Q But those entries are in the possession of the Otompaziyt. 

now, aren't they? A I don't think A4.. I think there wasn't 

any -Settlement, but I would not say positively, but I think 144 

q Well then, What is the system to show Whether he 

signed any money and turned it in? lk This book. 

q That is the only authentic record you have got 

Yes, sir. 

q As to whether any money was received by Mr. Oitay or 

not, People's Exhibit No. 1? A Yes, 

411 
. 

,-7-;-ertz 

?' , 

q Now, when he comes to the Matey Clerk's office,,Shat 

is the proceedure, what does he do? What does the money clerk_ 

sign, what is he supposed to sing? A The money clerk makes 

out an original and carbon sheet, and enters thereomall the 

money that he has got to forward that day. 

4 Itemized? A Yes sir; and itemized, and Foley, the 

sir. Of course 



- 

bedey meesengdmi be signs the duplicate, that 

sheet, and gives that back to the money clerk, and  

clerk intUrn files that away. 

q What is done with the original? A The On  

accompanies. the envelope and the Money to its destinatiOn. 

q So that if that $88.36 occurred on that sheet of 

date, it is presumed that Mr' Foley got that amount? 

MR . GONTERMNA : I object .to that: 

THE COURT: Whit a moment. 

BY THE COURT: 

Ct If the amount is shown on that sheet, for 

that amount of $88.36 was shown on that sheet to be ro, 

to the money clerk, then the money messenger must have reee 

that money? 

MR. GONTERIKAN: your Honor, there is AO ev 

of any sheet. 

W. AT: There waa a sheet, and I want 

•out what --

MR. GONTENKAN: It is for the Jury to draw inter01100 

from the testimony. 

THE COURT: Yea, objection sustained • 

BY MR . GRAY: 

q You haven't got that original sheet Of thattdate,Op 

any subsequent date in your poseessionl here? A I, told ytritt, 

Counselor, I could not find it. 



q I Staked you, have .y u got it? 

16th or the 9th 'rather? 

Q No, the sheet on this day that 

to be turned in? A I haven't got it. 

Q But it is in the possession of the COmpar3Y? 

in the possession of the Company. 

q But it is the custom to make a sheet on the da 

itemUe his money/ 'hk )1.0): sir. 

Q None of your sheets tore in your 

sir; there is not. 

BY THE COURT: 

Do you know whether or not there 

character on that day by and between the 

the defendant? A I know there was not 

BY MR. GRAY: 

q There cannot be a sheet unless the defendant makes i 

out  A No sir; the defendant makes the sheet out4 and , 

know there wasn't any sheet because him and IL looked for...* 

and could not find it. 

q The carbon sheet? A Yes, sir. 

MR. GONTERMAN: Now, what sheet are you referring 

Counselor? 

THE COURT: He is referring to a sheet thatoinntit-b* 

found, and there cannot be any sheet, and of ccourie?0,4 

, 
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MML. GRAY1 

(I Did you look for the original of the cartons 

• course, it was not in the possessiOn of the money clerk 

Yes, sir. 

(I Did you look for the original sheorAn the pooseei 

of the money clerk? A No, sir* 

BY MR. GONTERUAN: 

Q He could not have it if it was not made out? •A N 

wir. 

BY MR. GRAY: 

q How do you know it was not mad out?' A 13450aUss wea 

could not find it. 

Q, And the itens of those sheets were 

Itemized statement? A Yes,. sir. 

RE-maRion XXAMINATION BY MR. OONTERMAN: 

(1, If the defendant did not do rata 

showing these two items 

MR. GRAY: You havenit got any evidence of that* 

TES COURT1 That is all. 

Cc Now, when you instructed him into his duties as moue" 

clerk, what did you tell him his duties wers? ftplain what yaw 

told him in reference to these o 0.d. settlements, as yew cap. 

them/ A why, I told him 

Did you tell him What he was supposed to do ? A Oh, 

yes sir. 

` 



Q Now, what did you tell him he *was Bui 

told him he was to give the driver a receipt •t: 

ey when he turned  -in a c c -d. return and he -*as te tli*O" 

this report. 

You mean, to make this report out?. A Yes s 

in this report he was to include the rate and the oturn Oha' 

oft returning the money to the shipper, and the amount 

ed, and he was to take the money and put it in,an envelope 

seal it up, And put this in a money package and we sent 

this back to the shipper', and he in turn was to send this 

money ahead to the shipper, and itemize it down, and give 

to the money messenger the following morning. 

Q And he did -follow that in detail? A 

Q And he appeared to understand'what. you 

A Oh, yes sir. 

BY THE COURT: 

Q On the 9th day of January, or on the 11th day`or 

uary, 1909, how long had the defendant been acting in the 

acity of money clerk? A About one month. 

BY MR. GONTERMAN: 

(1 And When you put him in full charge, you aserm 

he knew what his duties were from the way he had handled 

self, and the way he managed the business? A Yes sir; Int 

relation to that, there was also an assistant inspector or 

agencieE who put him in charge, that is, his present positiO4 



Of loaner clerk. I did not only take the res 

giving him that position, but thereewao a3.s0 

spector of agencies who checked him into the 

lightened him as to #is duties. 

MR. GONTERKAW: That is all. 

R3+CROSS EXAMINATION BY MR. GRAY: 

(1, How many days did that inspector of agencies 

there to enlighten him as to his duties and What instrue 

did he give him? A Why, he asked him-whether- ey2.alwa 

ask him 

Q That did he ask him, never mind What they  alwayi41 

A He asked hisrif he thoroughly understird his duties 

he was satisfied with the checkup, and he showed Ilia 

bination of the safe, and the money drawer, and evowt 
Q Was that the inspector of Agencies whO spen 

hour.in instructing this man.in the duties Of his 0 

A yes sir; you know that morning 

Q Row long did you instruct him? A / 00 

exactly how long. Rh took Charge "-I took from this 

septamber until the day he took the money, or sai44sMi 

fied.to accept the respohsibilities. 

Q Did he ever do anything outside *rioting. 

the drivers, any time? k Well, be was a clerk 

Q Did heaver leave the money cage during the 

any other purpose? A Yes sir; to give reOeitt* 



Counter not to• leuve the counter though. 

lER. TRAY: That is all. 

TUROR NO. 9 I would like to ask this -Wk 

questtion. 

TgE COURT: 

BY JUROR ITO. 9: 

Q now, in reference to the.defendant here, whenlnettitn-

ed over the money to the money messenger., as I understands 

isn't the money messenger supposed to give him in return 

thing simfliar to Bkhibit Mb. 1, with the signature of th 

driver., a receipt, something to show? A Yes, largo 

Q Was he supposed to give something to elaw for 

Yes. 

money that he hap received? A Yes, sir. 

Q That he has turned over to the money maps 

Yes, sir. 

BY JUROR 110.1: 

Was there any. delivery Of money made to U0.04a012 

messenger on the llth, A Moll, I was absent that day,  

Q Was there any money turned *over to him on .that 

A There was, but I was absent on that day; 

BY MR. GONTNRMAN: 

Q When a C000d0 shipment is -turned in to the niPnei 
that is on a seperate sheet from the other, isn't it74. 

all appears on the one sheet. 

Q Does he make a separate receipt for the IWO. 14, 



the meney clerk, d oes he mr4ke 

to the money messenger? A Oh yes. 

q If he gets any 0 0 d. moneys from the 

gives a seperate receipt for them? A Will I 

detail? 

Q Yes? A The c.o.d money is'seperate. 

Yes? A We have what we call local this is the 

local section. We have the divisions. :We haVc 10041• 

south and west. BO.st;teikes in the New England Statoe 

south, the States south of here, and the west division the 

Western States. Now, they amen supposed to be on Iseetra 

sheets, that is, the money Where it is to be retnrned 

that is, the shilvem 

Yee? A And that is put down esperately. Istiwt 

what you mean?? 

Q I mean any moneys whialthe receive01 on c4,0 di, peck 

he gives a seperate receipt for, does he not? A The 

does. 

And if the money had been turned over by the defendant 

to the money messenger in this 'instance, the defendant woad, 

in the ordinary course of business, have a receipt fans the 

money messenger for that money? A Yes, eirr. 

Did you ever ask him if he had any sueh receipts? 

A yes sir; I testified about that. 



•(), Did lie ever show you he had any such rees 

NO air; he did not: 

THE COURT: I imagine What the exact sitUa 

the Jury wishes to know' is if a c.o.d. payment; iaBsenV 

away, Would it stand alone),On a single sheet, or Wota 

appear' in items on another sheet? 

THE WITESS: No sir; it would appear on a Bina* 

receipt with regard to that one thing, and is the thi 

he givean ittem mixed up with others, or would it ba - 

ate item, single, alone? A No sir; it would be MOO Irt 



.Por that day/ A Yes sir; but not jnixe 

moneys. 

Ct We are talking about the entries not', A Yam, sir 

So that several c.o.d. receipts of the Money me000 

on a certain day, would appear, as far as the resept4on.4 

them is concerned], altogether on one sheet? A Yes, air. 

Q Now, what Mr. Gray is getting at is have you a sheet, 

of that date? 

MR. GRAY: Or any date subsequent, the 11th or 12th, 

from that date to this, we will say? And have yow got it 

here? • 

A No, sir; I have not.. 

Now, another thincI want to ask. Suppose there was 

three,c.o.d. packages, and three c.o.d. deliverielen*M047, OneD 

for $88.1one for $36., and one for $22., delivered to he: drimOr 

now then, we will say the messenger comes around in e couple 

of hours, and they make the Sheet-- the money Ole* ZOOMS Out; 

a sheet, a carbon sheet and an original. Towa that ij*city 

each of those items, W., $36., and $22„ or a total Of 

A Oh no, he specifies each aid every amount, 

Bach and every amount separate? A 'rat, sir. 

That is What I wanted to tet at for a long tiM 40 014 

then' the money messenger keeps the original, and he Wed* lOr,, 

the carton sheet to the money clerk as his reoelOW A Ir 

sir; 



(the etnirt thensid)notrilehed the 

with Sea 415 of the CIOde of Criminal Pr 

a reoese until two o'clook,p.m.) 



TM PEOPLE vs. JOHN WHIMELY 

NeW br1, AP 

7-RI AL GrIONTIENTIFED 

AFTER REMISS 

GEORGE KENT, resumes the stand: 

RE.i.CROSS EXAMINATIONT (CONTINUED) BY Mk.. GRAY: 

Q Now, Mr. Kent, during the time that Mr. venitellt WS* 

money clerk there, we will say from December the 12th, as he 

12th,. 1909* 

stated to me, to January the 16th, when he resigned, did 

his absence at any time receive any money from this man Mid 

who beatified here? A No sir; i did 

it you say that during the time that Mr; Whitely was 

money clerk, that you did not receive anything 

money from this man Ford as a driver? A, Before the littnit 

Q The man Ford, who was a witness here before you?  

A yes, sir. 

Q You say that you did not receive any money from him att. 

all during that time' A No, sir. 

Q So that if Ford swears that he did give you some money 

during that time, he is mistaken, is he noel' A I received 

money on the 16th. 

Q But that was after' Mr'. Whitely had left the erikaior or 
the Adams Bkpress Company? A He did not leave their eimp1or 

until about five0-thirty. He was not in the office at the time. 
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ta You sal YOli did reactive same money from hie' an the 16th? 

A I did on the 16th; Yes, air. 

Q January the 16th? We will say from December the 14th 

to January the 15th, did you receive any money from •Perd? A No, 

sir; I did not. 

Q So if he says so, he is mistaken? A Yes, sir. 

Q' Now, you say there is a money syamp. There ie no name 

of any clerk on the stamp? It is simply a received and datmt 

stamp? A Yes sir; there is no name of any clerk it is sine,. 

lu a received and dated stamp. 

Q And the money clerk add 's his name in pencil either 

above or belowlor in that vicinity to show that he received the 

money and stamped that paid? A Yes, sir. 

Q, That is right? A Yes, sir. 

Q Now, that particular stamp, you saw and used in the 

office, the cage? A Yes, sir. 

It wasn't locked up in any drawer., was it? A 

sir. 

No, 

q It wasn't locked up in the safe, was it? A No sir. 

So that you had access to that stamp? A Yee, sir. 

MR. GONTERUAN: Is that all? 

MR. TRAY: That is all. , 

RE-RE-DIRECT EXAMINATION BY MR. GONTICRMAN: 

Q Now, there has been some question-, when a driver takes 

out a package for delivery, he gets a sheet Which goes --



he takes with htfiti on the wagon 

9, And do you knew Whether that is the sheet that wee - 

aken Out on that day- (Rands Sheet to witness), the ninths. ZE 

ear& A Yes sir; that is the sheet. 

Q That is the sheet paged in the morning? A Xt was VC 

sheet paged about two oeclook in the afternoon Of the Stat. 

Q Well, it is supposed 4. and he is supposed to make th 

deliveries and get the signatures of the parties and return 

that sheet? A Yes, sir. 

lER. GRAY: I object to that, What the driver. 

suppoied to do. 

THE COURT: I will sustain .the objection. You May 

strike out the question and answer. 

BY MR. GONTERIEAN: 

Q After he gets -- makes his delivery, and if that-del:1V, 

ery is a c.o.d. delivery, what does he do with that sheet elitelt 

he takes with him? 

MR. GRAY: IT object to that on the ground that 

the driver is here to testify as to hi's own duties on 

each and every occasion. 

MR. GONTERMAN: All *right, will put him on 

MR. GRAY: He does not --

BY MR. GONTERMAN: 

Q Now, you have testified in regard to the duties of 

the money clerk when the money messenger goes around, and IL 



ant to get this clearly before the j. 

made between moneys which are received tO: 

which are received for 0.0.6. settlements' it 

there is settlements and c.o.d. settlements. 

Q I see. Now; when the money thin the mOniSitMOSSet 

comes around, and if there are• charges in additiOn•

settlements, are are there how are those 

seperate sheets or on the same sheet? 

be made out, 

MR. GRAY: Now, I object to that. The,mOney 

ger is in court and he can testify as to  that. Vs iS 

not the best; evidence. 

VIE COURT: No, I will allow the question., 

BY MR. GONTARRAN: 

q I:want you to explain that to the Jury so that t 

will understand that? That is all? A These Charges Yo* 

speak ar are entered as settlements. They are put ow separa,te, 
.‘,. 

sheets,. apart from the c. 0,tb. packages. 

So t ha tt; if on any one °occasion; if therewere mo re 
which were turnad over for ordinary express 'claargee and if, tr 

the same days, there• were moneys fore. O. d. settasemintS, 

there would be at} least two sheets, woad there not? A 

sir. 

And them those -- those two sheets are both deli:Vere 

to the money messenger are they, when he takes the money?. 

A yes, 



..nr•-••• 

Q And then upon any given oodision *ten m0 AV 

over to the messenger ., if it were money received for '1* 

there would be given a sheet Containing that entry for 4144 

merit, and if on the SUMO OC Bi on there were:  also mOneYe tarlfed 

over for- c . o .d . settlements, there would b addition Or 

sheet? A Yes, sir. 

CC; And then in addition to that there would be  the re 

lar envelope containing the T.o.d moneTs themselves? A Us, 

Q, And would those all be , turned over. Ott.- the .13EIMe time , 

the messenger? A All turned over: to the messenger at the 

time, yes sir. 

Yes, Eind then the -money rnesengerr s supposed to give 

his receipt to the money clerk for the moneys? A Yes, sir, 

BY MR . GRAY: 

Q- What would the re be to show on- either of those sheets 

whether they were c'.o.d . settlements, or money charges? A It 

would be specified thereon the sheet. 

4. But a 11 the c.o.d. charges for that day would bel down 

on one sheet, would they Ivo t? A Well .ags I explained befor

Never• nrind , as. :v-ou said beforee. Let me make clear to 

you 'that I want to find out. Suppose there were three c.o.d. 

deliveries ow that day, $88', $36.,. and $24; they would all ap. 

pear individually on one shoe to:ind that vould show on the sheet 



would it ?tot? A Yes, air. 

BY MR. GONTERM AN: 

But a t the same time, there' 

as to whether it /5 outside of the c 

a differentia 

A Yes, sir, 

Q And if one c.o.d . package were out of town 

be on a separate sheet by, itself? A, There are three diiri 

Q What are they'? A The three diTisions are the Etigi,t0 

and Northern states, for one, and the southern states for 

therm , and the Western states for another, and there la anOth 

er sheet known as the local that 

BY RR . GRAY: 

Q The local? A Yes, sir. 

BY  MR. GO NTERMAN : 

Q Then, if on one occasion there were three  

of cr.o.d packages to different parties, they  would 41 

one sheet? A Yes, sir. 

Q The. t I s, if they were all in the same terri 

the City. 

sir . 

s 

And the others would be on separate- sheetts? A 

And the money charges would be on  a separate  

A Yes, sir. 

BY m. GRAY: 



If therm! were one item of $88* there overleo, 

on the wrong sheet, it would be a mistake of It,is *VIA 

He is ltable to mistakes? A Oh we are all liable 

mis takes. 

BY MR. GONTERMAN: 

(4, If he made a mistake, it would be his mistake? A 

sir; it would be his mistake. 

MR. GONTERMAN: Now, I would like to recall Mr. 

Foley. 

.J A •M B S FOLE Yt, reca12.edi; 

• DIRECT EXAMINATION BY MR. GONTERMAN (C inuedi) 

Nbw, Mr. Foley, on the 9th, when you called at the of  

tice and saw this defendant:you received certain sheets 02 

reference to moneys, did you not? A Yes, sir. 

Q I show you one dated ,Tanuary 9th 1%09 and ask yro 

that is one of the sheets? A Yes, 

Q, And the name of the defendant is on it? A Yes, sir. 

Q Is that hie signature? A Yes, sir. 

Q' Was that put on in your presence? A Yes, sir, 

is the name here. 

cz, I see. How much does that -- what cl.aes that repretlerit? 

MR. GRAY: The sheet speaks for itself. 

VIE WITNESS: U49.50. 



]B. GONTERMAN: All right, I Offer- th 

denew, 

THE COURT: Are the items there at all? 

THE WITNESS: one iteni. 

MR. GRAY: just let tie see it, pleasee. 

BY . GRAY: 

What do es that mean here (id ic a tine , where from? 

A That is the shipper., that is where it is from. 

Q It is not the man that was .here on the stand? 

sir; that is the man. That is put on all the sheets. 

Q This is Whitely's name-, you  say here 3 (indicating? 

A That is Wh I te ly-' s name there; yes sir. 

cC, Did you see, Trr. Whitely write that name there'? 

I never saw w. Whitely write anything. 

Q ; You did mot have this one herein court this to.,(reti,in 

A To, sir.. 

Is that the sheet you procured during rece#3. 

sir; 

Q Is that the original. sheet you procured reeefisS 

Adams Express nmpanyta office? A Yee, sir. 

Q And thi s is $149 . 70 does that include more theil 9net:' 

c,o.d.? A That is the balance,. 

Q It is not Itemized at all? A There is nr 01.0;tit 

on that sheet. 

Who wrote this? A I do not know whether it we  



Whitely. IV looks like his writing: 

Cr It has not been v/ritten todur:i has it? 

difecT, it has not. 

(V. You did not see it written today between 

o'clock? A Nb, sir. 

BY MR. GONTERVAN: 

Q

 

It was handed to you)by yr. Whitely? 

Is that your name there  (Ind ic t ingi? A 

o ur cashier, d own tow rr. 

Q. And What does that read? That makes $149.50 

express charges on that day? A -Yes sir. 

MOSS EXAMINATION BY . GRAY: 

If I remeinber correctly, Mr 

- 

/Poley,,.when I was exam-

ining you, you' testified that irr each -- that your sta teMentf 

that you r ect ived from the money clerk at each branch offices 

was itemized? A That is as I remember 4.t. 

Q And in regard to (r. o .d "s if I remember correctly., 

you testified that each and every item WU'S itemized?? 

. GONTERMAN: Well, he said he did trot: 

ci II thought I understood you to say that each and every 

package delivered to youl was itemized on tie sheet and a pack-

age corresponding to that entry was handed to you? So that, 

suppose that there Was seven, or eight or nine packages, each 

and every one of them was put up b nd delivered to you, as MOM 



r 

'laid the sheet was delivered to y011 rYakt 

each and every paOkage? A Yes -there IS a 

to me, but it is Beetled% 

Q Don't you check the amounts you rest 

clerks? A Oh, it is checked by the money 01ellkeo 

not c.o.d''s that you are talking about, It is esp:t' 

It has got nothing, to do with cto.d"s: 

Irn this sheet here (itdicatine 

delivered to you. for one day? A Yes sir;. 

Q For one branck office? A Yes, sir. 

Q /lbw much does that amount to for one day? A -Oh 

any. one day, $20, $40 and different amounts. 

FON-DIRECT EXAMINATION BY MR. GONTERMAN: 

Q Now, at the same time, did you. receive 

January 9th (Ihdicating)? A Yes, sir; 

Q From the defendant Mr. Whitely? A Yes sir% 

this paper, 

Q And that was in r eferencee to the tiransactibits 

had with him that day? A Yes, sir, 

Q, That was a c.o.d. package was it not? A That was. tt 

o • d • package, 

MR. GO NTERMAN: I offer that in evidence, 

(Paper re.ceived in‘ evidence and marked' PeOpieS 

Ethibit N. 4 of this date.) 

RE.CROSS EXAMINATION BY MR. GRAY: 



r,-..emewa 
• 

Q How much is that there oh-that .thes 

you receive theme from that c.o.d. PaCkage* 

five cents? A I received $4.75 total* • 

Q Por the whole day? A I think it i 

the whole day. 

Q, Yes, but that was all you received on ItinUat 

A Well, I received 

tr Yes, but mean c.o.d. packages, that WEL a the, 

c.o.d. package for v.hich you receivedmoney on that .43 

A That one day; yes sir-. 

CC When did you, get up thereon- this  day? Were you 

previously? A That day?' 

What time? A About a quarter past twit') half Paftat 

two. 

What time did you' pay a visit on this day7 AAbOiW

the same time. 

cc. When did you pay a visit to that office previcuSIY? 

A About the same •time. 

Q, And only forty-five cents was turned in from that 

branch? A Yes sir. 

Q?, When was that written (thdicatishe? A At the same 

time. 

Q It was written today? A NO, sir. 

Will you swear that that ink was not writt n te4a/7-

A Yes sir; I will swear it. 



.• -MR. I will allow it to be. -intr, 
• 

denne :and t will ..ask that. this .exhibit, • wlx 

.to the 'jury be taken into the 'Juryroom... with V* 

MR. GONTERMAN: If they af3k. •.for. • t.to. 

BY  MR. GONTERtir AN: 

Q Then, on the 9th, all the moneys that you reftei*e4: 

from the defendant, Whitely,' in connection with the tranSantik, 
• 

tions, are represented in these papers? A Yes, sir. 

Q 0149 for ordinary, expreStS. charge f3 nd fpirsvotiod: 

A Yes, sir. 

Q And you rensived only one .c.o. 45 settlement WI, 

day? A That is all; yes sii% 

ct,) And that is riglAt? A If there were any/ ot4ere 

would be on there with that, it would be on• the SEM" Sheet': 

Q And then you gave him a recreipt for the mOneye y0117 reil, 

C e ived? A Yes, sir-. 

That is your usual custom? A Yes, sir. 

Q Maw the 9th was on a saturday and you went again 0* 

Monday, didni t you? A Yes, sir-, 

Q And you r ece ived similar statements on that day, d 

you not? A Yes, sir. 

THE COTMT: Wha t day is that, Mr. Ckmterman? 

MR. GONTERMAN: on the 11th. 

THE COURT: Yes. 



't  

Q Now; I show you a paperdated j'anuary llth, 1909, and 

ask you whe theror Trot you got that from the defendant o 

that day  (hands papers to witnesa)? A Yes sir. 

Q And it was given in connection with c.o.d. settleMen 

or express charges? A This is a mixed sheet. There is some 

stuff going, out pf' town and some local, ordinary expreep 

charges. 

Ct., Well, is there any e.o.d's on that? A There 

cr.o.dus here,. 

Q That represents express charges outside of cr.,0,.d. 

settlements? A Yes, sir. 

q), That was all you, got on that day? A 'Yes, 

cl And it was given you at the same time you got the 

money? A Yes, sire 

By him (Iiidicating the defendant) A Yes, sir, 

MR. GONTERMAN: I offer that in evidenee;(indicata. 

kng paper.) 

BY MR . GRAY: 

Q Now, when you got this sheet, b nd when you got the CrOrwa 

respond ing packages 

MR. GONTMTAN: Nb, he does not get any correspond-

ing packages; he did trot eio testify. 

MR. GRAY: Well, doesn't he have to get pbckages of 

money? 
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TIER COURT: Ask him tha 

BY MR . GRAY: 

cl When you got the corresp nding packages of money 

correspond with these items did you examine these packages,' 

lock at the sheet and check them off? A Yes, 

A I notice there: an item of $89.33? A Yes 

Cr You remember that item? A Yes 

Q American -Exchange National Bank? A Yes, sir, 

. MR. GRAY: I just call that to your attention. 

MR. GONTRETIAN: Nbvr, all of these items. upon PeOplesir • 

Exhibit No. 41 reprer-sent the express charges which yOU-,re!;-

ceiversi from the d efendant on that day outside of 

settlements? 

THE WITNESS:: yes, sir. 

Q, On the same day you received some C-.o 

did you not? A Ye, sir, 

Q, And you received certain statements in connection with 

them? I; hand you this paper dated 7Linuary 11th, and ask you  

whether these papers were delivered to you: by the, defendant 

on that day (Hand s papers to wi tne ss) A Yes, sir; 

Q, And that at the time you got those papers he handed 

you certain moneys? A Yes, sir, 

Q And those statements were handed to .you' in reference 

to this money? A Yes, sir. 



cp And is a statement of the money's received b 

A Yes, sire 

- MR. GONTIMETAN: I offer tho se n edencea, 

((Paper received in evidence and marked Peb.pl 

Itibit No.. 5 of this date.,) 

BY R . GRAY: 

Q, What time did you call on the 11th to collect meney, 

half past two?' A Bbtween two and half past. 

What are these? Now, we will see? Are 

chargea. or the c'.o.d"s? A That is a sze.o.d. 

(indicating) that is the charges. That is paid 

packages ( ind lea tine . 

Q, Who makes these little marks here for each and everlY 

charge,, do you? A ND, those checks simply indicate that it'. 

is checked off. 

ct You do not know who has checked them off? A No. 

Q I call your attention to this (indicating) do you 

rjee any such check there? A No check on here,' no. 

I want to call your attention tho this (indicating) do 

you see any check there e (referring to Peoples Exhibit NO. 4) ---

MR. GONTERMAN: I suggest these be marked in evidence. 

MR. GRAY: All right, I want them marked in e4idenctel. 

(Papers received in evidence and marked Peoples 

*Exhibits Nos. 6" nd 7 of this date.) 



offered these in owl-dome and 1 doniot want  

examine on them.. When I have finished, I tho 

asking whether or not they were go Itig to be oft elitesdir 

earid en me; 

THE COURT: Yes, exactly. 

MR. GRAY: Are they not at the disposal of 

fendant's counsel for the purpose of arose  exarain* 

MR. GONTERMAN: I in not through with him yet?' 

KR. GRAY: I thought you were; You stop:PO(1s 

ahead. 

BY THE COURT: 

Q Do you recollect the amount of extra churl; 

there was on that o.o.d. receipt. There was soMeth 

a dollar and something? A I do not- exactly rectal, that.: 

Q You do not recall,, the evidenoie shows that?). 

answer) 

BY MR. GONTERMAN: 

Q Nbw, Peoples Exhibit No. 4, dated January 11th, 

represents the moneys that you received from, the deifittithOW.P 

that day for express charges, eltclusive of C.o.d. ettlilen0 

does it not? (Hands paper to witnesol A Yea, siX• 

Q And peoples" Exhibits Nos. 6 and 7 repvesent loptie10. 



which you received from the diefendant on that 

MR'. GRAY: Nbw, if your Honor please  

MR. GONTERMAN: Will you' wai t unt 11 I have 

my question; please; 

MR. GRAY: Now, if your jtonor please, 

this method of' procedure'. These papers have. beeli 

evidence, and he has given his direct examinatton -4 

to get them in evidence; Ii do not think that he eh° 

be given an opportunity! to examine on them, 

examine on them, and them re-direc t examination On the 

same exhibits. The exhibits till are theme. Leave 

there. They are in evidence,l, 

MR. GONTERVIAN: I want to get it a little .more?, 

fec tlyr. 

THE COURT: L will allow the quettiorn 

BY MR . GONTERMAN: 

Q And Peoples Exhibits 6 and 7 represent moneys Vilal 

received from the defendant on that day on co.d. fterta.emen,,. 

A Yes, sir-. 

CZ And are all the c; o .d . se ttlementS that you xtettaiteid/-

from the defendant' on that day? A Yes, sir, 

Q , And Peoples Exhibits 5, 6 and 7, represent all the 

moneys for which the defendant' turned)over- to you on i43,e. nth 

day of Yanuary, 1909/ A Yes, sir-. 
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GONtEHWAN: That 

BSCROSS NUMENATION BY MR GRAY: 

Q Now, we will go buck again' to. this murkih 

is supposed to have checked off the different items 

the checking off appears Caere? A .The'rnan that re 

these fram me downtown- when I bring it down o hi 

q That is the custom,,to chedtthem off? A Some 

some don't. 

Cfp Oh, Chen Caere is Too rules fixed about it? 

same man don't receive the moneys all the time. 

q What 11, mean is, there is no rule in the system Of MO"' 

weiving money from you? — 

MR. GONMUAN: object to thatl# 

THE COURT: yes, I sustain 

NY MR. GRAY: 

Q Is there: anything on that sheet to indicate w4ettp,u-

aeiTed it? A Yes sir; there is the man's name right thee. 
(indicating). 

Q What is Iris name.? A J. J. Moran. 

BY' MR . GONTERMAN: 

Q He rece ived that from you? A Yes, sir'. 

BY MR. GRAY: 

CI, Wow many men received money from you' downtown? A Well 

- 



I have got four or five different department14 

Partment lute got ttgo or three- clerks a,nd they are 

,led to sign for it. 

cp What is this manta name here: (indicating) on thiø 

sheet? A That is Lamar the chief clerk irr the Dock Depart.: 

ment. 

Ilb-vey, does not check them off? A Not sir. 

That is all? A Yes, Sir. 

this man hereil is it Mbriartr? 

Q Hovey does 'not check them off'? A No 

MR. GONTMIAN: r object to that. 

THE COURT: objection sustainedi. Strike out 

question and aiswerr. 

New, I seeaMbirisser's name on this sheet 

VIE COURT: We will hatre ito more questions as to 

Mbrrissey or his checking off. The same rule .appliei 

to that. 

Q How many- men received money from you- on this sheet? 

A Four. 

Q, Four men? Did you turn in this money at four different 

times, or all at once? A Yes sir; four different times. 

q, Four different times? A Yes, sir; 

Q You turned in that $142.39) at four different times, 

A Yes sir; four different people. 
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•Q Row long did you 'remain there that eiveni 

all these d iffe rent amounts to those four people? 

hour . 

MR.. GONTERMAN: I ojeet to that 

Q, Can you tell why you did not turn in all 

at one time? A There is 

MR. GONTERIII AN: I object to that. 

THE COURT: obj ect ion sus tainedis 

MR. GRAY: I will take an exeeptioiton thatt. 

MR. GONTIIRM AN: I t, has all been asked and anstiere 

MR . GRAY: Excep t ion4 

MR'. GONTERMAN: I would like to r scull the drivel,* 

and examine him as to tha t original shee t 

his wagon. 

WILLI AM I. FORD, rec edi:: 

DIRECT FIALTI NATI ON BY MR. GO NTERM AN : Cbnt inuedij 

Q Now, I show you a pap er d at ad xanuary 9th, b nd ask 

you whether or no t that was a paper which Was in your possess 

on that day, January 9th, 1909? A Yes, that is Iffy own der 

livery sheet. 

Q, And whom d id you receive i t from? A Well, I.reeelired. 

t from the 148th Street office', s3 one personally. 

And is that sheet *ich yoU took with you on your wagon 
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• an that day? A Tee, sir; that is the gheet 

( ihd io ti ng) . 

Q And is this the sheet vhinh you took when you 

e d the c .o.d . package for- $68:36? A Yes sir; that id 

sheet. 

Q And is this the paper upon which you had the ZeOira 

dum in regard to that, is that the paper that you Showed to 

the consignee A Yes sir; when I offered the goods for 

delivery, I got the signature on it. 

Q And after' that did you return. 

fenditnt? A I returned that . to Vr. !hitelY, 

Q To Mr:. Whitely? A Yes, sir'. 

Q And did he put his name on it in your prpsen 

sir; as near as / can remenfber. I a.r supposed to put IMAne 

on it, and he is -supposed to put his own alongside! of the ' 

name 

(I And this is the sheet that 'you had with yOu the: 

9th when you, took the c . o .d . package, for  88.36$  and d +slivered 

it? A Yes, sir. 

MR. GONTERV AN: I offer that in evidence, 

BY THE COURT: 

CI Was there any additional charge at that time e to; 

that $88.36/ A Yes  sir, hereI was charges for eeiidi the 

money back. 



iAntir  

How much?. A On the $88‘ I think it"witir 

$22, it was a quarter. 

THE COURT: That is all. 

BY MR. GRAY: 

Q Wm, who makes this sheet -up? A I- do. 

Q, And all the money that you turned in to the *Orley o: 

is represented the Tket 'by that total icating4 

sir. 

$2.277? •A 

MR. GONTERMAN: Tow, if your Honor please, it is 

simply a question of the admission of the paper first. 

MB. GRAY: I will allow it in evidence, if I haVe 

some -- my, rights. 

THE COURT: You  have in regard to the admiaei011, ad. 

mittedly, but cross examination will bring out any other. 

questions --• wait a minute. He has a right before it ic 

admitted„ to questiorr about it. Do not mark that as an 

exhibit until it has been accepted'. 

MR. GONTERIZAN: Hit says it has been accepted. 

THE COURT: Do I- und era tand this is a new offero 

MR. GONTERMAN: Well, I offer it in evidence 1303. 

husnrot taken -- he has not objected to it. 

MR. GRAY: Not yet. 

MR. GONTEMAN: re can make any, enamination as. 

the contents. 
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Tint COURT:, He can make an examination i relation 

to its admission. 

-BY' MR. GRAY: 

Q lbw, how much money out of this Sheet bete did(' ytul 

turn  into the money olerk9 just look, at it again (0010130 

hands paper to wi tne ssi ? A This Sheet? 

Yes, that one sheet? A I turned $88.36 and 

quarter added and $2-..297 express charges)• 

q) Is there anything lhere to Sam on that 'Sheet: 

turned in $88,36 outside of your own handwriting? 

is $88.36' written on the sheet.' 

.Q By you? A Yes sir; and  it is O. Ind lir Whitely. 

Q What is 0. K-"d? A The C40 .4.4 t;het 

Q Don' t you know that all Whitelyt P.K.WwEis the ohtArgen, - 

he received from you? A Well, it is 94 Kld 

Q Dom' t you know that all Mr. Whitelyr (41( 4 was the ex%',. 

p re s s charge s this t 2 .27? Dont t you know that? A No, IL 

Should say he rece Ipt ô dl  for everything; no sir, 

MR. GRAY: As far as that Is concerned,. I hare no 

more questions to ask on that. I want it in evidenweu. 

(Paper received in evidence and marked !Copies' 

Exhibit No. 8 of this date.) 

BY MR. GONTERMAN: 

Q At the time that you returned this paper to him, Pew-



pies Exhibit Bo. 8, you also did T umd rotund, 

to him the $88.36? A Yes, sir; when I turn.. 

Q And he signed th is at ,t hat time, and also =a 

Peoples Exhibit No. 1? A Yes sir; that is to 

Q, And these are the only papers that you hare or 

anything about in reference to the receipt of 

sir. 

Q And the same time you xe turned to him the 

charges that you had collected here? A Yes, sir, 

Amounting to $2.27? A Yes, sir. 

MR. GONTERUAN: That is all. 

CROSS EXAMINATION BY MR, GRAY: 

Q just a question Mr. Ford'. You asked me this morning 

when I examined you about this othcer item of 02.50 which you  

claim to have turned in, did you not? A Yes, sir. 

You have been at the office of the Company at ' lunob 

hour have you not, and you found this paper? A Which paper? 

Q, This paper. (-indicating) ; 

d id not ge t it at all. 

Weren, t you with the man that got it? A No sir, 

where did you get it? A 

MR. GONTERMAN: Now, if your-Honor please, it is 
business, 

not that man's iutoutixdatizigg to produce the papers The 

District Attorney produces that paper. 

BY .MR. GRAY: 
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Q You haven't got 'the sheet with the 

A Yes, sir. 

Q You haven' tg t it? A No, 

Q Did you tour ohe sheet up? 

Q, Are you sure of that? A Tes 

BY MR. GONTERHAN: 

You have the entry of that tk 

have •you not? A Yes, sir, 

BY MR. GRAY: 

Q Who made that entry? A In:what? 

Q How do you know? Did you see him make it?, A IT 

GRAY: Then I ask that that entry be stricken. 

o u t. 

VIE WITNESS:: I didn't sew, who made it. II. said 

what --

MR. GRAY: Oh --

MR. GONTERMAN: We have been over this before, hut as: 

there seems to be some confusion in the minds of 001Msea 

I Just want to get this thing straightened out, 

. GRAY: I beg your Honor's pardon; there 

confusion' in  the mind of this counsel, all far as 

concerned. 

. NTERM AN: Oh, I thought there was. 



• BY MR. GONTERILAN: 

Q This book, Peoples Exhibit No. 2, will yO:**' 

to the entry in reference. to that item of $229 

..there it is right there (indicating). 

Q This is the book that  you had with you?' 

that book belongs in the office'. you taepl 

Q Did you take this with you on the wagot? 

On tha t day? A No, • sir. 

Q And this is the book in which you •-•• in Whitt): 

any consignments which at first had 'been, reft.tEled. 

A ft t exactly that, o .d . any shipment).  that hittis:.7.40.r 

fused. 

Q And that is the reason that it is in this 'book? 

A That is the reason that it is in that book. 

And did you make any entries here on that daY 

A On the 9th? 

Yes. A No, sir. 

Did Mr. Whitely have this in his possession on thab,. 

d ay? A It was in the Office, I could not say-Whether 

it or not. It belons in the office. It was in the Offite* 

Q Did he talk with you' about this book? A Well, it 

in his businesa to neceive all these -- goods that 001)/6 )3610*.i'• 
the 

You see when you' send. the goods out, they give yet ehee6, 

an file. That sheet comes from downtown, and we eign i there 



in our owrrt office. 

cr Did you see this book on the day .of the delivery. 

that 0.50 item? A Yes sir; I seen it and signed it. 

YOU signed it? A Yes, sir. 

Q, When:9 A Ehat is my- signature righthere (itdioatio 

ing) 'nu sees this, is a separate package altogether. 

Clp And so you, signed it right there:. (indicating  

sir; 

Q, .And that is your receipt for that cr.o. 

A Yes, sir: 

Qt.1 And that is your receipt for thatf 4:r.o 

A Yes, sir. 

corgronentV, 

Q And had you signed that before you signed the book? 

A , Well, I told you that these goods.weighed 

and that they were loaded on- my: trick and the book wason 

top of the goods with the sheet in it. I took the book and 

signed off, and took the goods. 

Q That is merely for the purpose of showing that you., 

signed it? A Yes sir; they have to have a record in the 

tue office of all the goods. 

q That is the reatitt for that consignment? A Yea 

BY MR. GRAY: 

Q, You say it is your receipt for it. From. Whom did yow 

receive it? A Well, no one personally. I got it out of the 

office. 



MR. GRAY: Then I object to it. 

THE INITNESER I ga. ye the receipt. 

Q You saw it there on top of the, r,00ds and you s, 

your mane to it? You don't' know viho Wrote it? You go 

the stuff out, is that it? A Yes, sir. 

Q. That is the way it is done? A Yes, sir, 

BY . GONDERM AN: 

-That is your receipt for it? A Yes, sir, 

BY MR. GRAY: 

Q But no individual gsive you he book? A 

at all. 

(1. Who did you turn this sheet into, Peoples Exhibit 

No. 8? A I turned that in to the money clerk. 

Q And he signs it here, doesrrftt he (Indicating)? A Tee 

sir. 

Q, And you turned' in a similar shee t like this for every 

day? A We turn in a similar sheet. It is at the same sheet, 

but it is the same kind of a sheet, 

BY MR. GONDERMAN: 

Q Do you make a duplica te or that sheet? A We turn 

the carbon, and .1 get the carbon signed. 

Well, who retains the other one? A The money clerk, 

Q He retains both- in the office? A Yes sir, this one 
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got to send downtown the following., 

plicate he hold s in the offic e foriti a own- flavor 

1,111. GRAY: -That is all. 

HER:RY PLATT', called as a witness on baba 

of the People, being duly sworn, testifies as follows. 

DIRECT ECAMINATI ON BY MR. GONDERMAN: 

Q You are LI n employe of the Adams Express Company'? 

am in the employ of Whitman et''' Vandiver: 

Q And you are an investigator in reference 

connected with the Adams Express Company? A Yes 

Q And you made an examination in regard to this matteir, 

in regard to the charge preferred in this indic:tment? A 

iirVestigated to find out what Waft ih it. 

Q, Now, have you had any Conversations with 

ir reference to this charge in reference to a certain two 

items, c.o.d. settlements, one for 08:36 and another for. $22:5) 

A I had in reference to the 488.36. 

Q, Did you have any conversation in reference to the item 

of 02.50? A I do not remember that. 

Q And where did you'have this conversation? A it took 

place in the police court when he brought him down from his 

house, during the evening. 

And WhEit did he say to you' and wha t did you say to him 
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ira reference it? A I asked him about the 488 

t. I e says he never received'  it., or he did. 

what became of It was a mystery him. 

Q Did you at any time get any other explanation? 

Is the only explanation he gave. ne says he perhaps received 

He did not know what became of it 

pid he say who he perhaps rece ived it from? 

he did no t mention the name, not that I remember. 

Q, Did he make any fur.ther s tat eine nts to you; atOUt tb,i.a 

matter? A Thb t was all. 

Q About what MA* did he make this statement that 

refer to? A It was around am a* 

twel.fth of February, I believe. 

You 

sometime around eleventh/row' 

Q, You had no further conversation with "him? A No. 

aRoss EXAMINATION BY 1,M R. GRAY: 

Q And there was no mention made.: of a dr ivere's bOck, that 

was shown to you on the day that you, got any message that ther* 

was A No thing to me. 
receiving. 

Q No t a t all? A FOccep t ii admitt ing/the moner and not 

knowing wha t be came of it 

R .He d id no t say b ny thing a t all that .the methods at 

that office were so loose that it was possible for anybody 

else to add an entry to it af terwards? A He told me, said 

he perhaps ree-e lied the money but he did not know what became  
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Q, What is your pOsition, investogistOr? 

iestigator. with Whittaan & Vandiver. 

Q They are attorneys, are they not? A 

Q, How long have you worked for them? 

for them over a year. 

Q Where were you working before that? 

Attorney's office. 

MR. GRAY: That is all. 

MR. GONDIMAN: That is all that i 

case. 

TIThl PEOPLE REST 

10. GRAY: Now, I a Sk your Honor , 

indictment against this man on the ground this. t there ha 

been no direct proof shown that he at any time srseabre 

this money. In the first place, there has tieerrito direct 

proof shown that he kt any tine:reeefted Uhts.00Aggliim 

the firetc.place; ' .There has beerc no direct proof shown? 
no 11. 

that he has/turned over this money, if he did receive 

to the money messenger', in the second place; and On the 

further and separate ground that the People have absolute-

ly failed to prove their casebS set forth ii the indiets. 

ment against this defendant. 

THE COURT: The motion is denied. 
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MB.•  GRAY: Imuld atik your Honor to in2tV4C. 

that this motion is not •necressary'i 

THE COURT: Oh, certainly: 

MR. GRAY.: Not necessarily- El circumstance to be 

taken against this defendant, or diive of this maz4 

gtvi1t. 

THE COURT: Yes, the Tury have nothing to do what. 

ever with the motion made by the attorney at all. 

province is to consider the facts in the case in the 

case, and I so instruct you. 

(Mr. Gray opens the case tho- the yury n behalf 

of the defence.) 

WOHN W. WHITEL Y, the defendant, called as a 

witnessin Ms own behalf, Tieing duly sworn, testified at, taw. 

lows: 

DIRECT E XAMINA. TI ON BY I. GRAY: 

Q Mr. Whitely, where do you live? live it-1%0ton-

Road , 105'7. 

Q, When did you entcrinto the employ of the Adams Exprea  

Company? A On December the 2nd'. 

Q 1908? A Yee, sir. 

Q, Who recommended you there? 

1.. GO IIDERM : I obj e c t to tha t, if your Honor 

please it; does not make any difference who recommended. 
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R. GRAY: It is immaterial; but 

latitude ought to be allowed?' 

THE COURT: Yes, it is immaterial 

the case, and you must follow. them Eta closely' as' p0130 

Obj eat ion s us tainedi. 

Q In what capacity did you enterthe 

Express Company on December the 2nd? A 

As a clerk? A As Et clerk. 

Was there anything said to you at that time about taks. 

ing the pffoce of money clerk? A Never mentioned. 

Q, When was that position put before you for the firs 

time? A Ii went to sue, the Superintendent. 

Q, What is his name? A Mr. Howard. 

Q. When did you go to see him? A Om December the lati 

the same time I was employed, and we talked the matter over. 

I was recommended =lb OM 

MR. GONDEMEAN: I object to th t. 

MR. GRAY: rever mind by vhom you were rec emended . 

A And we talked the matter over, and he told me that he could. 

give me a position as long as I lived in the „ronx, ih the 

branch office in the ffronx. 

Q, In the Ifronx? A Ye, sir. 

Q, And your position was ih the Bronx branah at Bergan 

Avenue? A 148th Street and nergan Avenue. 

'49 
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r that circumstances did you 

as a clerk, you, say? AWs •a clerk. 

Q When was the first intimation given to you of yo 

prospective appointment as a money clerk? A After' being 

there about a week. 
P. 

Q Was there anything said in that first week from Decem-

ber the 2nd to the 9th, about your taking a position as money 

clerk there try anybody? A 1Th sir; there was not. 

Q. Well what VMS said there on the 9th? 

started in to show me the detaile 

Q, Who did? A Mr. Kent), _he started in to show me the 

details of the office. 

Q That was the manager, the agent? A Th 

ager, the agent. 

Q Well, now, what was said ar ter that with reference to 

this appointment? What did he tell yow, what did he do? A: He 

called me in and told me he would show me how to do this, and 

he was all the time saying that my work was very unsatiettei. 

tory to him. 

Q To him? A To him. 

He was all the time complaining about you? A All the 

time compla in tng 

MR. GONDERMAN: I object to that and ask that it be 

stricken out. 

MiL, GRAY: I think, if your Honor please, that there 
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ought be a li ttle latitude shown to the ;Oren 

show animosity  on the part of these men, to 

THE COURT: I think you ought to confine yOurte. 

closely as possible to the issues in the case. 

MR. GRAY: I think you ought to allow 

latitude. 

THE COURT: You  will have all the latitude newest:at 

but you will not have any un eessary latitudErl 

)3Y 'MR. GRAY: 

Q How- long was ITr. Kent instructing you in your Watt; 

as money clerk before you a c tually entered upon the duties or 
the position? A About five days about, 

Q, During that five days did you work at anything else, 

anything else around the office? A Everything: 

Q Everything? A Everything.' 

q How often during that five days were you a ctually in 

the money cage? A 'None. 

Q Nbe at all? A Only when he culled me:: to show me how 

to make up this account and that account. 

Q, How long were you there as a matter of fact Et t b time?) 

A About half an hour, towards the latter end of it. 

Q, And that was all the instruc tion that you- got as to 

your duties as money clerk from Yr. Kent? A 'That was all the 

ins true tion. 



Q Now, when did you actually take Up Ur 

Oetgel, enter upon 'the duties -of the position? 

Furman called, on the 14th. 

The 14th? A yes, sir. 

THE COURT: 14th of what? 

Q The 14th of December" A The 14th of Detren,, 

Q What were your duties as money clerk? What. We 

duties , detail your duties to the jury here, in your own -

A Well, my duites were never explained to 

was ever3thing. There was rec'eivitgr clerk, 

clerk, porter, everything, telephone boy. 

ty to do anything,. 

(4, And d id you r emain as money clerk from December the 

12th until when? A Until Sattirday morning, I think it WaS 

December 15th or 16th -- I mean-January 15th or 16th. 

Q During the time you were there, were you confined li 

the time to tha t cage? A I had only an opportunity to go irr 

the cage when the drivers came to bring in money. 

Q, Outside of the time when the drivers did not come in 

to present any ygoney, you were attending to what? A Attend—

ing to everything. 

MR. GONDERMAN: I wish that you would not lead 

the tne se. 

MR GRAY: That is so. 

Q Did Mr. Kent during that month eVOT sk you to do sin 

met 
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thing for him Outside of your duties as money 

occasiOnallyr: 

Q, For what'? A To go around and to adjust 

and that matter.. On one OCreli 13 tO n toga to one place: 

to one thing, and ón another to anotherplace to adjUS. 

differerime, and so on. 

Q And during the time or times th t you wer 

the buiilding-, was the cage open, if you remem1(1,r, 

lock it up after. you? A I always locked 

Open. 

Q Now, during the d inner hour who took care of your 

duties as money Clerk? A Well, I locked it when 1. went tO. 

ntr d inner. 

Q, You locked it? Did you at any time ever - 

any time come back a nd find anybody in the cage? 

MR. G017DEMTAN: Now, I object  to that. 

THE COURT: Now, please do not lead the witnes8. 

have not any objection to the questions asked up to this 

time, as to the materiality of the evidenos to the Gas% 

now, however, I will ask you not to lead the witneset. 

BY LT.. GRAY: 

Q, On those occastons when you had left the cage, did you 

find the cage in the same conditibm when you came back 1415 whew, 

you left it? 



THE COURT': Thereis another  leading question. 

BY MR. GRAY: 

Q HOW did 3.rau find it? A OPen, 

Q On how any occasions? A Several. 

Q YOtt mean several? A A few, times. 

Q Did you find it open? A Ye, sir. 

MR. GONDERMAN: Now, if your Honor pleases--

THE COURT: Question allowed'. 

Q When you had come back and, found that cage A ' 

found on oneparticular occoasibn When I made 6 note of it, 

that it was open. 

Q, During: your incumbency as money clerk? A Yea sir., 

went to rqy dinner, and I did not bst)ten to stay. the hour- out', 

I just had a quick lunch around at a lunch ,place, and I found 

the agent in the, cage. 

Q, Who is the agent? A Mr. Kent. He and' another mEtn 

werein there going through all the papers, and throwing out 

a lot, they were destroying them and Inirning them, they des-

troyed them ahd burned them up. r have the date of. it in a 

kttof little book. I made a note of it at the time. 

Q, on another occasion,' did you find anything extraordin-

ary,when you got back? 

GONDERMKN: Now, if your jtonor plea See — 

THE COURT: objection sustained as to the form of 

the question. It is objectionable for seireral reasons. 
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BY. MR. GRAY: 

I show you. a little note book. 

session on the day specifie.d, January 

to witness)? A Yes, sir. 

Q Did you on that day write what 

A Yes, sir. 

Q You remember it? A Yes, sir. 

Q I will ask 30u to turn over a page, another- page 

vour 

the 7th (Exh$.13i. t book 

you remember where it is marked there another- page MI 40 an0is 

ther page -- did you make the several .entries in *this notebook 
II did 

at the time and on the dates specified? A exaci 

That is in  relatiorr to existing circa= tanolro there?, 

specified? A I did. 

: Your Honor, , he has just examined SS 

to the 

cc: You; made these entries? made those entries 

Q On these dates.? A On those date's. 
".t 

. GRAY: If your Honor please I offer ih ariderICEO 

these entries. 

THE COUR : What dates? 

1tR. GRAY: On January 7th 1909; another under date 

of January 13th, 1909,.  the date in the ind to tment here, 

and another under date of January 14th, 1909, and another: 

d or da te of i}1 nuary 16th, 1709'. Now, this MELT/ swears 
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that he made those metes on phose date 

that they ought to be offered in eviden044 

THE COURT: Oh, I know, but they mjt b 

some thing a 1 to ge ther d iff erent from this case4 

MR. GRAY: No sir, they are in relation to 

case. your Honor can examine them before I take afar 

comments on them. 

THE COURT: Parallel with the Itemi here is the date  

of the 11th of ,Tanuary; 

ER. GONDERLIAN: Your Honor I think an inspection 

will show that it has no bearing upon this case% 

MR. GRAY: I might remind yoUr Ittnor that it 

been brought out in the direct ecamination, in the testi. 
, 

mony of TAT. Kent that he saw this man writing in a( book 

on  that date. 

THE COURT: I know., 

BY THE COURT: 
Q This is what, a sort of a general diary, is 

sir; a diary). 

CI, Nbt kept particularly with reference to your 'Work .Or 

ktol anything else-, but a diary? A It ièbt diaryPertaining to 

work. 

THE COURT: Excluded7. 

BY 1.1R. GRAY: 

Q, Is it kept particularly with reference 



slims? A Yes, sir. 

ct And containing no other entr ie a A tibmt4r2ing 

other entries. 

THE COURT: Exclude it. 

MR. GRAY: I _will take an exception', your 

BY MrR GRAY: 

Q Now, when :were you  first informed that t 

was missing'? A On Saturday afternoon. 

Q What • day, can you r emember the 

was January the 15th or 16th. 1.1 fail to r emember the ejt 

day. 

Q Who informed you? A /fr. Kent. 

What w as said by him to you b t t hat time? A He asked 

me "Where is that entry for 367. 

What03  did you. say to that? A I says. don4 t IttrOw• 

What did he say then? Gb on; continue the conTerea.i. 

tion? What conversation took place between you and h.im 

that time? A He says, "Well, we Will investigate and find 

out'."" We investigated, we looked through the money cage. 

We looked through the safe. We could not find anything tivre 

about it at th a. t t ime , a nd he says, Why-, it is in the book. 

Dt has been r eceived " 

Viha t book? A The driver's book. I says, "Then, 

must have received  

1th. 



Q You must have received 

you? A, When he first spokéto me 

received it, and we went on looking for i 

looked through t he money cage and everywhere, and w 

find it, and I says then in the excvitement„ "I do no 

to do in a easel like this, "and I says, "Wait a moment a 

will go and see if I can raise the money, WI 

look it up afterwards." 

Q. This was at the time that Mr. Kent" first drew your. 

attention to it  A First brought my attention to it. 

Then you went out, venat did you do after that? A 

was about fifteen minutes, and then i went out, and then 

realtzed =lb Oft 

MR. GoNDERMAN: I object'. to that • what he realized. 

MR GRAY: Oh, it is your duty to give this man a 

chance just a s much as any other man. 

GONDEMAN: Now, if your Horror please, the wit** 

ness is the defendant in Ms own behalf, 'emd he must WO-

tify in accordance with the rules of evidencrs. 

s THE COURT: Very true', in accordance with theTt rUcie 

of elridenc'e-, we would have to strike out what he re-aliZeitr.• 

L. GRAY: Strike out what he realized. 

BY MR. GRAY: 

Q, What did you do? A I came back and when I entered 
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I found Mr. Kent there! and the other. drivers, 

drivers in the cage, handling the money ,attil the 

saw that, I says, "I resign, and you will accept my re 

tion", 1 says, "Is this up to.you,..,!". Ski Id, "/- hold MS 

responsible nap longer." I went to work in the midst -of t 

and left the place. After I had gone away rei4ized the, 

fact 

Q, Never mind what you realized, tell what you die 

ter I left the place I found that I had the ke B d 

realized 

That is very objectitinable to the District Attcrne 

you knowe; 

THE COURT: And so is it objectionable to the COUr 

that kind of a remark from you, Mr. Gray. 

THE WITNESS: So I returned„ the 

Q, You did deliver the keys, and when you got back 

found him in the cage with another man? A Yes, 

You' had resigned at fiat time? A I did binned Jet 1 

Q, When did you c ommence hearing about this case aft 

January 16th? A A month, nearly.. 

q A month after that? A Nearly, on the 11th. 

Q, nu did not hear from -anybody? A For nearly a month 

after that, on the 11th I did I was bone after that and T, 

stayed home all the time. 



106' 

Did you change your residence in the meantime? A Not, 

Q, Or go out of town? A rklb. 

q Are you married? A II am married, yes sir. 

Q, bw, about this driver" s book that was the botik 

was shown to you by Mr. Kent, was it not? A Yes, sir. 

Q, And your stamp appears hare and your name appears 

here, (Indicating)? A Yes, sir. 

Q, Do you remember the time When you stumped- this parti—

cular sheet, or these particular sheets (Indicating)? 

r emember anything about the particular time when you stamped 

the two of them' Well, I would have to look at 1j) and re-

fresh my memory. 

This was stumped in the morning (Indicating) and this 

in the afternoon (indicating/ A Well, morning means about 

half past one for this driver-. 

Q, Now have you go t any habit or custom about stamping 

these things any,particular place? A At the bottom of the 

totals as near as possible, and then Usually, put _ down the, totals. 

wit my name. If you will look, the book --

Q1 At tie bottom of the totals? A Yes sir; you will. 

find usually that they are --that I put the total as well as , 

my name. 

YOu put the total down as well as your name? A Yes, 

sir; there is $91.8ff it is down there it says -- I do not 

v2.1,41.30:219111 



but you w ill find by' lookin 

the amount of money •I received as well as Mgr 

itg it, with each stamp. 

Have you any recollection of receiving this. eMe 

money? A No, I have no rec olle c t ion of receiving: 

Q, You say you are supposed to hav6 r-eceived it -tto,o‘o 

to this book on the 9th of 0-anuary, and your attention WEL" 

brought to it on the. 15th? A That is it. 

Nbw, do you r member anything about the turning in 

of this $22.50" on this Thursday here? A Nb, sir; /I do Ant: 

Q, Do you r emember anything that occurred or transpired 

any' incident between youEnd this man Ford? A I do 
the history 

Q, Just tell the jury/about this, what occurred between 

you a rid Ford?? A He came in on Friday evening- and handed 
• 

his sheets. 

Q Wht day? A Friday, the. 15th. 

Q, Was it the day before you r esigned,..was it? A Yee, 

sir 

Q That happened that day? What time of the day was it? 

A In the evening,about half past ix or quarter to seven, he 

handedin his Friday morning sheets and also handed in a 

duplicate with it, and the duplicate ',signed, and he kept hie 

book and I took the two sheets and sent them downtown. 

Q, Well? A The empress charges which he collected goes 

v& 
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On another shee and I stgned for each a nd ev'e 

and I found there was $12 or 'nearly $1 yes!, 

over, and I asked him at this was and he says, nth 

a  

Q, Did he mention the amount? 22.50. 

had th,is c.o.d.,. for several days."" He says, "Keep t 

and' when I get my pay: tomorrow, I will give you the di 

ence; $10.50." I said, "Where is the slip for it, th 

ter", he says, "I tore it up" I says, "What” He et 

"That will be all right. lif will see you tomorroW." That wa 

on Friday. I takes the money, puts it all into the drawer, 

just in the usual way. 

Q lbw, was there anybody present at that conversattOn 

between you and Ford? A Well, there was several of them 

around there, standing there. My little daughter was standing 

there wai t'ing ft r 'me to go home to supp er. 

ci Standing right there at the door? A. Right there at 

the Pagq. 

Was she able to hear the cornorsation? A She could 

‘VI hear the conversatibm 

I show you, these exhibits, is that exhibit in your 

handwriting (Xeferring to Exhibit No. 7)? A Yes, sir. 

It is in your handwriting? A That I in Tv handwritim 
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that exhibit in your han wri t in 

Peoples Exhibi t No. ? A That is in myhandwr 

Q, I do the same with the rest here I will eh 'W 

4 and -11-1 

A This is mine (Witness refers to Peoples Fachibit 

that is mine .= (Witness refers to Peoples Exhibit No, 

this is also mine (Witnessrefers to People': Exhibit •N 

all to you • (Hands Peoples ,Exhibits Nos. 

4, sow, you notice on these Exhibits here- that there 

no mention made of any $813:36. Can  you account for that 

any way? A No, sir. 

Do you remember having received it at a 

did it receive it. 

Q, If you had received it .'what would you have 

It, I mean to say, ordinarily, according to custonir 

MR. GONDERMAN: I object to that. 

TICE COURT: Objection sus tai nett. 

Q, What Wit S your custom in r egard to the $88,00 

had received it? 

THE COURT: That is just the issue here: OM 

sue tEi ne 

Q, That was your duty in regard to any moneys th ,7011 

received in the course of your duties as money clerk? A 'WO 

moneys that I received in the usual way for expre s 

I put th.em into the drawer, and mtiney I received' with 

am. 



• *did likewise% 

ci You say thei,e is a wife in that cage? 

(I Who. has the combination of that Bat e thai 

of? A Well  I.E had the coribi nati on. 

Q Do you  know of anybody else that haa got 014 c 

tion of that safe? A. Well, Mr. Howard had the coMblii 

sent.to him. 

Q, Do you know whether the combination 

the previous money clerk was. there? ../t. Oh, 

Q. You know that? A It was changed. 

Q, Do you remember ever having left t he safe open' &tiring 

your absence from the money cage? I mean without the dOrdlititi,6 

tion being left on? A After I went in the morning and opens 

ed it I always left it open. 

Qt So that it could be opened br just turning the knob, 

to anybody going in the cage? A Yes, sir. 

And you.,:plac edyour money in the safe or money d rawer1) 

A Most always in the money drawer  

Q, What would he the custom in regard to c.o.d. packages? 

For instance' packages itA3 big as this of $88? A I put them in 

the safe. 

Q, That would go in the safe? A Yes, sit. 

Q, Tow, Mr. Whitely, you  are charged here with e tabling 

this money, by that I mean appropriating, it to your own user, 

*ere you guilty of that? A Not guulty. 
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Did you take this mimey? A I did 

Q You do not know, and you have no r 

at all?. A Mt b 

Q As to receiving or parting with it? A 

Q Where were you.e mPloyed before you e nter4 

press Company? A The Consolidated GELS r 017428:11r: 

Q How long. were, you there? A The last time. 

the Gas Compa fly was about a Year., 

Q, Where were you before tha t time? 

and Hudson River R CbmPanr. 

Q, Where were you  then? A L VMS 

d epartment. 

Q, How long. were you there? A. Nearly' seven 3.r ea 

MR. GRAY: That it; all. 

CROSS DCAMINATION- BY ME. C4ONDFASAN: 

Q,. You signed your name to this, d idn, t you? (Ifbferring 

to Peoples' Exhibit ff) ? A No, I never signed those. Z par 

stamped than as they were turned 

Q Is that your signature there.? 

MR. GRAY: Just look at it and see: 

(Witness examines paper) 

THE WITNESS: ITO. 

BY MR . GO ND -141..P.M A N: 

What? It is not your signature? A No. 



Q Is tha t yotir 13 ignture at - the top 

sheets (Referring to peoples' Ex,hibit. ntenbeite 

A (Witnessexarriines paper's) s, those ere mine.. 

this one again (Referring to Peoples' Exhibit N 

Peoples' Exhibit numbers 6 and 7 

'nese examines peoples' Exhibit No. 8 atiain) 

Q, You say it is no t your signature (Referring to p•e 

ples'  Exhibit No. 8)? 

GRAY: is there anyr signature there, in the firet 

place? I do not see any signature there. 

MR. GONDERLIAN: There is soraet.hing that tppears tto 
• 

be "0. K., V/hitely." Did you..sign that, "0.' 

A NO, I did not sign that. 

Q, You did not sign it at all? A NO. 

Q, Did you receive the express charges on that do*., 

January 9th? A NO. 

charges at all? A Oh, yes, I received the dhatises 

would not have stamped it if I had rmt received them, 

Q You are positive :tiou did not sign it? A I did Stalt% 

it but I d id riot sign it 

Q Then you got the $2.27? A Yes sir; and turned it 

in to the Company. 

Q, Oh, you did put your stamp on it? A Yes sir;. 1 did 

stamp it 

Q. Nbw, it was your custom to receipt for moneys. ttutt 



you got • from t his driver. Ford I was it not, in 

A Yes, sir. 

Q That is the book that he used all the the,. 

not, (Referring to peoples' Exhibit No. 3.)? A Yee 

is all 

Q, That it13 Peoples' Eiib1t the book *rich 

driver used? A Yes, sir: Well, that signature that yO 

see there and that stamp is --
, 

Q And you, when you) got moneys put, your 

A, That is right. 

Q Did you ever put your stamp upon it when you did no 

get the money? A I don? t think I did-. I vinad no 

Q Sometimes you put your stamp at the top and eo.Met 

at the side? A Yee sir; according to how much money there 

was, whether it was covered entirely. 

Q, You put it down there (indicating) and sometir0.00, 

the side? A You c ould not put it down there. 

Q. Here is a page with the figures .25 at the bait° 

and there is the stamp, there is the verification, that MeEM:0 

that t you r ec.e lye d the $6.25? A Ye131 8 ir. . 

Although this $6.25 is below the stamp?' A Teo, eir, 

9, You got that first item of $1.25? Did you eTe'tUrfl 

that $1.25 in? A Well, if it totals up $6.25 I did. 

Q. Do you remembe Wether you turned that $1.25 in? AN 
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there were too many items of $1.25. to remember WO ir 

Q Do you rem.embe r any complaint in ref ellitte.* 

$1.25? 1.t. t tha t I remember. 

q Nb one ever speak to you in regard to 

I remember of. 

Q, And don't t you remember that there 

for that 4.25? Look at thesepapers and see if you siter s 
f,1/4 

those before (Hands paper to witness) 

R. GRAY: Now, if your Honor.-plettse, I have to '0 

ject to this. I do not -see that we have brought out any* 

thing in the direct ecamination in regard to $l 

THE COURT: Objection allowed. 

IAR. GO NDERM Ali: I will take an exception 

BY R. GONDIattfAN: 

Q Did you over hear of those papers before? 

Q, You did not? A Mow could I. I haVe not bee 

employ of the Company since January lath and that 1::4 
19th. 

Q Did you s ee a date here, December 30th? A do 

remember seeing it. I do not remember it. I do not kow:it 

thing about it. 

Q, You never saw any of those papers here b 

dicating)? A Why, certainly not. 

Q, You do not remember any inquii7 in regard to that 



item of December 30th? A' No, *certainly AO 

haTe all come up a month later., and I do Tixit kn 

about them. 

Q NOwl you knew enough about the business 

these sheets, Aid you .not Peoples' Exhibits nUMbel* 

5, 6 and 7, you made all these sheets out? A .Yes 0 

Mr..1Cent'standing alongside Of me. 

Q All the time? A Mostly. 

Q, Was he standing tires ides you on gumary 9th? 

uary the 9th? 

Q Yes, A Hemight have been. 

Q As a matter of fact, don't you know 

He was there, on January 9th. 

Q On January 9th? A Yes sir; he was 

11th. 

Well, did he stand besides you on the llth Inhen you 

made this sheet out? A He could not, he was not there. 

Q Well, you knew the. proper Way to make out your account 

with the Company? Youlkew all about that, didn't you? A Oh, 

I had business tact enough to know .thEti 

Q You do not want the jury to understand that you did 

not know your business at all? A Oh, I was not entirely a 

fool. 

• 
And you knew when you got a c.o.d. package on a se*. 
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parate sheet and, the other moheye far Ord 

another Sheet? A Yes sir; und sometime 

error and put both of them on one sheet, the.tii 

one sheet. 

Q Do you ramamber when you ma 

I have gone over it and changed 4 it quickly 

sheet. 

cz And do you know When you got those mOnays fore 

pacYFages you were to put the money in a. separate envelope 

*TY 04tiOgel 

goes in a separate envelope fro* the other 

settlements? • A Oh, yes. 

Q, And you did not have any doubt in .your mind as t 

proper way to , do that? A Oh, no. 

Q, You knew how., to do that? A If Ihd an envelope, 

with so much money for b why,. I put it Up. 

Q You do not want this jury to understand that when you 
44P 

got the money you did not know what to do with it? A Oho 

no, I do n-ot want the jury to understand that. 

Q, And you paid it over to /fr. Foley vthen he came roun 

A I paid it over to W. Foley when he came round. 

Q, Now, you did not pay any money to Mr. Foley for this 

item in the account on the 9th? A, I did not, no. 

Q, Well, do you know whether you' put any money up on the 

9 th? 
• 

HR. GRAY: He has answered the question very Pia 1117, 
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he does not know. 

Q When Mr. Foley. gets any money from.you, w 

receipt?  A He signs the carton shee 

Q, Did you ever see any form have you •go 

of Mr. Foley for these moneys, this a81 A How could I lit 

•are retained by the Company. 

9, Don't you get a duplicate at that time? A The -Company 

has all the duplicates. 

Q, • At that time? A They are filed:. 

9, And you do not know whether. -- you haven't any record 

of not having paid him, have'you? A Wh t is that? 

QI 

•to yr. Foley or mot? Tou haven't any reirord "of whet,* r low 

did or not? A I have no r ecord. What record have rt 

ny recreirittr, 

You do not know whether yOu ever paid that Zeta' .Oiret: 

You do not remember ever having receipted for theta 

moneys, do you? A I have no recollection, nothing at Etaa 
from one day to the other.. 

Q. And you ha yen' t any independent recollection of ever 

having pa id this money to him? A I have no recollection of 

it. 

Q, Have you any recollectionOf any of the other moneys 

that you got? A I haven't any recollection of any, money. 

All the money I go t was turned over to the Company in the pro.," 

per. f °rm. 
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Q Have you any recollection Of these items on 'Pe001.04 

Exhibits numbers 3, 4, 5 and 6? A I have no recollectiOn 

of any one of .them. 

Q And you did not see anybody take money? A I Cer—

tainly did not, if I had I would have stopped them. 

Q And you locked the place up when you went t lunch? 

A Always, that is, I shut the cage. 

When you came back on the 1.th and saw Mr. 1.Cetrtt, 

money was gone? A Oh, yes, that was the 16th. 

Q That was after the money was missing that is, they 

claimed it was missing? A Well, he was around ih, there,: 

and mr  Ford. Was in, he and Mr. Ford together'. 

Q, You did not find any record? A We did not f ind any 

record of it any place, not a thing. 

Q .And. this book, Peoples' Exhibit No. 1 was shown to yon), 

at the time, and you did tell him if it was in there you probs. 

ably got it? A Why, yes, that is so. 

Q, And do you say that now, or do you say, d ifferentlyr 

A I says, "I realize the fact that maybe I Eart mistaken, that 

maybe I did not get  

Q Is that w!clat you say now? A That is what I said be-

fore. 

Q, Do you say the same now that you said to him? A(N6 

answer.) 



Vlia.n when this money c ould n 

resigned right a t once? A ,No. 

Q, Well, how soon did you resign? 

money, and we could not find it, and went. and 

er than lose my positiorr under the circumstances, 

place to make it good until it shims up. I saidt, "I 

if. I can realize that amount of money, and Make it good,. 

we will look for it afterwards," I thought it would turn 

afterwards, and so I went out to see if I could not raise,,.: 

money, or, in other words, y went to work and thought it 0" 

and I came back, and I says 

is for me to make the money 

to him, "T4ay it seems to 

good, and we will look it 1.*:-

I get back," and I went out, and when I came back I fOU,nd 

Kent and mr. Smith iT1 the cage. 

Q, And you add to Mr. Kent that .you rresigned? A 'la 

"Mr. Kent, as long as you have assumed all thee responsibilit 

and taken entire charge of this matter, I rebign," but r 

gone about fifteen' minutes and then returned. , 

Q, You went out to get some money and then came back and 

reigned? A Well, I went out with that intention. 

Q, Well now, in regard to that $22- item, that it  of 

P2.50 

MR. GRAY: 
if you-, ihtend 

I would ask your Horror/to adjourn prom 

at four o'clock, to suspend the examination of this 

witness and allow a doctor whom I have here to be examined 
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k,10 

• 

MeaiTZ7W 

as to this man's previous good character., 

minutes, as his office hours are from ten to 

• the morning, and it would be rather inconveni 

to get here at that time. 

ME COURT: I will allow  it, Yes. 

MR. GRAY: It is rather unusual, but .-

P. DATID SHULTZ; called anawitness in behalf of 

the defence, being duly sworn, testified as 

DIRECT E XAMINATION'ITY MR. GRAY:. 

Q What is your business, a practicing physician? A X 

Awna physician. 

Q In active practice? A Yes, sir.' 

Q Where do you 'live? A 223 West: 48th t,treet. 

cl How long have you been in practice ,in We City Cf VO 

York, as EA physician? A Thirteen 'years. 

Do you know the def endant 1 MT: !htitely? A Yes,' sir4 

Q How long have you know him? A Oho I have known him 

for three or four years. 

Q Do you know his family? A I know his family. 

Q Do you know the neighborhood in Which he lives, and 

has lived for that time? A Yee, sir: 

Q. Do you know What his reputation in for truth, honesty, 

and veracity, in that neighborhood in .which he )11213 resided? 

A I do, 



4. • 

• 

that reputation good or bad?. 

.Q Have you had any opportunity 

• Nal. GRAY: Well, that is al 

CROSS EXAMINATION BY MR. GONDIMMAN: 

Q Do you know very many'.people who know him? A 

I know quite a number of people that know him. 

Q, Have you ever heard them talk about him? A Yea, 

Q, That is what you base your statement upon -- I antnOt 

asking you for any specific Imstancres? A I have alwayik heard 

then speak ki-hdly of him. 

That is what I telly, you have .heard then talk abovit 

.that? A Yes, sire 

sir. 

sir. 

Q And that is what you base your opinion on? A Yeatt, 

, 
And that is what you base your opinion on? A V" 

• 

Q, You have not anything to base a petsonttl opinion on 

A I am giving you a personal opinion of the man, vaht4 II knOT, 

of him. 

RE4DIRECT INAMINAT ION BYMR. GRAY: 

Q You are giving your own personal opinion of hilt,- and 

what you know of him as well? A Yes, sir. 

Q That is what you base your opinion on about hi*? 

A Yes, sir. 

• 



JOHN 

• 

WHI• T 3 L T, rec ailed 

CROSS EXAMINATION BY MR. GOIMERIvi AN (Continue 

(1, 

money? A I did not get it4 

d river 

driver turned in over' $12 and said he would give Ms •tIA 

the next day, and I as(ked him how about it, and he told 

I put it on a little piece of paper, that is all I put on 

it, just a memorandum of what it Was. 

Nbw, about this item of $22.5-o, you di 

Well, didn't you testify a little While agd 

turned/in to you on the 15th? A NO•si r 

BY 1R. GRAY: 

Q, Mayo you got taaa t piece of paper wi th 

sir; I have got it with me. 

Q, Just produce it? - 4Witnes4r9duoes paper) 

Bit MR. • GONDERN AN : 

We 11 , who made this memorandum (Brazaining pope? produ 

by, witness)? A L: mad e the memorandum,! put th 

own handwri t ingr, and I put it down in my( own handWritirlf‘Pro 

s a sort of memorandum. 

BY MR. GRAY: 

q When was that mde? A At the time, that was made 

at the time, and I did not see him 

BY MR. GOND34.111MAN: 

Wait a moment, you put a11 this down, wrote it Were 



d id ni t you? A Yes sir;,, Ii_ put all that downs 

this $10,,50 was .to come out of his.pay the folio 

he says, h, 

up", and he says, "I will see you tomorrow. 

Q, Do you know when that $22:50 package was sent 0111' 

delivery? A I do not. I would like know, if. we Could: 

get the number of the register, it is usually on the back 

there, there is the number of the register. 

Q Well, you see that entry of the 122.50 on nifillarY the 

9th, signed with your stamp? A No sir; not in writing, did 

I sign it? ' 

Q, It is stamped on this page, was that all put on theree 

afterwards? A That I do not know anything about, and if that 

Is so, I would not know anything about it, only he paye me in 

portion of it, and then don't pay me the rest, 

Q: Did he mention 

BY MR. GRAY: 

Q Did he mention 

s ir•. 

$22.50 specifically? 

22.50 specifically/ A Its did, 

Q, And that is what puts you in mind of it now? A Ye 

(The Court then admorrished the Xury in EteeprO:it 

with Sec tion415 of the Code of Criminal Prooydurili 

•

 

adjourned the further trial until tomorrOW reterZing 

10:30 o'clock.) 
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THE PEOPLE v. JO1IN T1. WHITF2,Y. 

New yo rk April 13,. 

TRIAL CONTINUED 

APPEARANCES: 

For the People, Assistant District Attorn 

For the Defense, S'ohn B. Gray, Esq. 

MR . APPLETON: If your Honor please 

is ill and cannot come to court today, and 

will permit, I will continue the ease:. 

THE COURT: VerY 

MR. GRAY: I would like to recall /ff'. George Ea 

to the stand, if your. Honor please. 

MR . APPLETON: I do not see, your Honor 

Kent should be rec ailed at this time. 

MR . GRAY: I have this priVilege. 

MR. APPLETON: Now, you see you are interrupt* 

I was addressing the Court. 

MR. GRAY: Go ahead. 

MR. APPLETON: The authorities all say that 

wi tne se ha 5. been °ailed and examined in diredt 

examination, that witness shall not be re0ailed until 
conclusion of the testimony of the rest of the ititneeSeii* 

He has f in-ished his cross examination of tars. Witte 6131 

the witness has left the stand, undAtow be wishes to re.. 
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cull him, which he not be allowed 

•weed with his defense so- that the PI-

MR . GRAY: At the concluton of 

of 77. Ken-t, I asked your honor for perntis 

Mr. Kent. 

• THE COURT: How many witnesses have you Tn. 

Mr. Gray? 

. GRAY: Four more. 

THE COURT: .What is the necessity for puttin 

Kenton now? 

MR. GRAY: Some information vihich I received fr 

the defendant since yesterday, which he neglected 

me. 

THE COURT: Call your other witnesses firtit. 

J 0 11 N W. V/ H I T Y recalled: 

RE4.DIRECT 3CAMINAT ION BY 1/IR. GRAY: 

Q Now, Mr. Whitely, you remember the incident et yout. 

coming back to that store on the 16th of Jttnuary? DO 

member about wha t time of the day you got buck? 

MR. APPLETON: His daughter has been in the COU.D. 

room all the time he has been testifying. 

THE WITNESS: Be tween three and three-thir 

BY MR. GRAY: 

Q, etweer three and three-thirty? Yes, air. 



ci Now, I want you to tell to the Court 

conversation yoU had with Mr. Kent- and What COitteVgt 

had with you? 

MR. APPLETON: I,- object to that. 

quest ion is very bad.. 

THE COURT: Obj e c tion Sus tained'. 

BY MR. GRAY: 

Q Have you anything fur her to say; to the Cour 

in regard to this matter? 

MR. APPLETON: j object 

examination. 

THE COURT: 0-Ojection SUS tained3. 

BY MR. GRAY: 

Q, Did you tell Mr. Kent the reason for 

MR. APPLETON: 1 object 

examination: 

THE COURT: Objection sustained'. 

BY MR. GRAY: 

Q, Did you tell Mr. Kent the reason for your resignation 

on that day? 

MR. APPLETON: I object to that'. 

Tine, COURT: Objection sustained'. 

BY MR. GRAY: 

ci Had you any other reason for resigning? 

MR. APPLETON: Dort' t answer. L object to it bin 



[AY, 

reason wan. 

THE COURT: Objec t ion sustained'. 

MR. GRAY: I take an exception to each and *very 

of your Honor's x•ulings in this matter. That is all 

by the way, one more question. 

BY mu . GRAY: 

Q When Mr. Furman, the Inspector, gave yoU.your ingtruemi. 

dims prior to your entering upon your duties of your pOsis. 

tion kti3 money clerk, d id he ha nd you any she e t such a 

(indicating)? A He handed me that sheet. 

MR. APPLETON: I objeOt to that 

qc. Did he hand you this sheet as an example Of wha 

had to do? 

. APPLETON I obj eat to that as improper rsupd 

examination. It was all gone into yesterday. 

MR. GRAY: And I left the witnesEK 

THE COURT: Objection sustained'. 

MR. GRAY: And I will take an exception. 

BY TIMOR NO. EIGHT: 

Q, On what date did you get this 02 that you claim you 

got out of the $22.50? A I got that on the rright of the 

15th of January. 

Q, You got it on the gth? A NO, on the 15th, just one 

week a! ter. 

Q, Did you turn in any moneys to the money clerk for that? 



ktAr 

A How do youi mean? 

ct Did you turn in moneys for that to the roitAii 

ger? A No, I resigned'. Mr. Kent maul:aid tile 

itiee. Mr. Kent turned the moneys in 'on that 04y., 

MR. APPLETON: You see that is not Ittta 

Juror's question. 

MR GRAY: It certainly 

BY JUROR NO. EI GHT : 

Q, Did you make any explanation toMr. Kent 

driver and the $12? A If had no opportunity, to tell 

BY MR.' GRAY: 

Q, Had the money clerk or money messenger‘ cake f417014n4 on 

the next day after you received this 0.2? 

MR. APPLETON: I object to that. 

THE COURT L will t.illow the question, 

THE 11/ I TNE SS : He was there at that time • 

BY MR . GRAY: 

Q, Did you turn in any moneys at that time? 

rro t. 

IRENE WHI.TELY, called as a witness in Wulf' Of 

defence, being duly sworn, testified as follows: 

DIRECT CA/TINATION BY MR. GRAY: 

cz Now, Miss Whitely, do you- remember being present 'art 



-Bergen Avenue store with your ,fatheron any 

Of January? A Yes, ai 

Q Can you tell about what night it was? Mtn yó 

about the day with reference `to his resignation? ItOW' 

it was to the dayhe resigned? ,Tibw far away? A a) 

• Friday night. 

Q, Was that the day before he 'resigned, or the day. art 

A :The day before.. 

MR. APPLETON: Now, Your' Honor., I do not want tillL 

to object because it is mot 

THE COURT: The form of the question is Olbje(4 

able It do not object to  direct questions being lead 

tut when it comes down to the rest of the examtnatiO 

do. 

BY MR. GRAY: 

1:1 Did you hear any conversation betneen your fa 

anybody else that Night? A Yes, sir. 

(1.- Do you know the man's name who was there talk-1h 

your fa the r that night? A Ye s s ; Mr. Ford 

Ford, stand up. (Ford stands up) Is that:the Y 

man? A Yes, sir. 

Q Wow, just tell what conversation he had with your 

father and your father had with him on that night? A r *ad 

standing at the cage and Papa was taking in some money., awl. 
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he ova Papa some .money, and Papa asked him some (pee" tOits 

he said he tore it up. 

Q• He says he tore it u p? He says he Aare 

and papa said, "What." Mr. Ford, says, "That i all 

will see you, tomorrow."' 

Well then what else occurred, what other corrversations 

tcany, took place between your father arid Mr. Ford? 

MR. APPLETON: Will your Honor instruct the wititeEitP, 

that she is not to say•anything only what the .heard r. 

Ford say. 

BY MR. GRAY: 

Q Do you r. emember anything else- passing between Mr. For 

and your father outside of that? .A No, sir. 

CROSS EXVIDTATION BY MR. APPLETON: 

Q , You were here in the court room yesterday were you 

not, young lady? A Yes', s ir 

Q, And was there anybody else there at the cage at the 

time Mr. Ford turned .in his money that day? A Yes, sir. 
• 

Q Wasn't Smith there? A Yes, sir. 

q Smith was there? A ,Yes, sir. 

Q And your father subpoenaed Smith, didn't he? 

1.R. GRAY: I object to that. That is not within the, 

knowledge of this witnesw. 

THE COURT: objection 

Q You heard what Yr. Gray said just now? A Yes, sir. 



MR. APPLETON: ,,That 

SAMUEL DA X 0 NI called as a witnessinils 

of the defense; being duly sworn, testifies as folltsW 

DIRECT 1KAMINATION BY MR. GRAY: 

Where do you reside, Illoctor? 123 East 74th 

Q, What is your business or professio Physidia 

Q, Are you engaged in practice in the City of Iftvi, york?-

Yes, sir. 

Q' Wow long have you been in active practice as aph375 

cian in the City of New ?ork A About 22 or 23 years. 

Q Do 3,ou know the defendant at the bar, John W. It. 

Yes, sir. 

Q, Him long have you know, hit, 'Doctor 

something, over ten years. 

Q Ten years? DO you know people 

can only say that I know his family.. 

Q, Do you know the reputation that he has tiorne 

past ten years? Do you' know whether.or !Dot --

MR. APPLETON: Just a moment. He has Not qualifie41,-

yet.

BY MR. GRAY: 

q Do you know his reputation ih the neighborhood,.ilrrh..W.,. 

he re s id es now and has lived f or the la s t ten years?' 

MR. APPLETON: I object to that. The Doctor a 
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he kNOws only his family. 

BY APPLETON: 

cr Do you  mean His iediatè family? A Yes.,sir. 

KR. GRAY: He has testified that he knew the tarn 

for ten years. 

. APPLETON: 17e7er min . I withdraw the obj eat-ion, 

BY LER . GRAY: 

Q, Do you know what his reputation for 

is in the neighborhood in which he lives now id has lived 

. honesty. 
ruth and v 

for the past ten years? I have never heard 

it, sir.. 

thing against 

Q Do you know whether it is good or bad? A 40 f 
must 

know, I t is good, but I vgannitit say tha t IA. know very lit tie • 

about his surroundings at present. 

Q, But you have known; Yrito rathe 

periiod of ten years? A -11-03 sir. 

Q\ For bow long during that ten ye:ara have you known 

him intimately then? A Oh, I should .judge about one  to two, 
years. 

Q And during that time what was his reputation? A Good. 

MR. GRAY: Wow, will your Honor permit me to recall 

Mr. Kent?:' 

THE COURT: Yee. 
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GEORGE K RN T' recalled by the de 

RE'-CROSS EXAMINATION BY /AR. GRAY ((Continued) 

Q Mr. Kent, how many clerks were employe 

Avenue branch off ice  be s id es your self a nd . teW" 

ing what time? 

Al3PLETON: That is objected to. ( 

when a question is asked and look at me and see if rar,, 

hand is raised and if it is, do not answer until Z have • 

had time to object.) I object that, the witnelmwas 

examined a nd cross examined at great length yesterddli, 

THE COURT: I will allow the question. 

BY MR. GRAY: 

How many, la% Kent? A Miring the holiday tiMei3 

it was in the holiday months -- what time have you referdnoo' 

to? 

Q, I mean during the time yr. Whitely was employed in the 

office? A Mr. Whitely was employed during the holidatt4 

we had four extra clerks besides Mr. ,Whitely. 

Did he perform any other services bedides the &tale 

of money clerk? A During the time -- any opecifio time? 

Q, All my question referred to was during the time hoWa: 

employed there? A There was sometimes that he would answer 

telephones; yes sir.; and o.therthings. 

Q, What were thos services? A Giving receipts, eta Is 

C le rk 



a clerk? A A an ordinatiy o 

Q, DiU he act as, telephone •operato 

phone was in hi's booth, or in the cage. 

Q Did he have to go outside of the,: 

to perform these services? 

MR. APPLETON: I object to that,because 

ent the defendant had different •jobe during that tine, 

him specify the time. 

MR. GRAY: I will leave it to the 

BY MR. GRAY: 

Q You frequently mlieved,Yrim during his 

you not? Don't look at Mr. Appleton. 

MR APPIABTON: I told him 't 0 look at Me  to see 

was objecting; 

THE WITNESS:: I 'relieved him every !lay. 

Q, Do you remember relieving him on January the AA 

That WEI B two dwe before he resigned? A II do not''reOtie 

particular day. 

Qi Do you remember on this particular day leaving thU1. 

rice t 11:15 in the forenoon and returning a t one cit'o-

111110 relieve him? A I do not. 

Q. You do not? A NO, sir. 

Q. Well, what time of the day did Poley usual #0 

Collect his money, to make up Ms moneys? A Wellr 

ed. 



Whb t was hip usual time, if he 

THE COURT : I think right here 

tion the attorney that we are not go 
_ 

but that is fit and proper rel-direct 

Q. Did you -ever direct him to make outithe 

ver the money to him? 

MR. APPLETON: I obj ec t to It, it is impropen' we 

e'ct examination.. 

TIM COURT: If it refers to these sheets, 'tf ry We 

and good, if it refers to other sheets, so. 

Do you remember the time that Mr. Furman came 

struct this man in his duties (Referring to the citiferi 

MR . APPLETON: I object to that, it is improper 

cross examination. 

MR. GRAY: nw, this, if your Honor pleaser Wi3. 

say in these two question , that this is the most materia 

point that has been brought out in the entire examinatici 

TJM COURT: Let us hear the ques t ion again, Mr. Stenea-

grapher? 

(Question r cad by Stenograph4r) 

THE COURT: Allowed 

BY LT. GRAY: 

Do you remember that day? A Yes, sir. 

Q, You were acting as money clerk prior to that time, 

were you not, yourself? A Yes, sir. 



CI I hand you a sheet here Whidh you told 10 

over to yr. Whitely, the incoming money clerk (Hand 

to witness)? 

MR. APPL :IETON! I object to that. 

YR. GRAY: ,just a nrornetit . 

Q (Crontinuine I show you a little 'item here: 

ine marked 75 c en t s Do. you remember that you made 

etood out of your own pocket? 

MR. APPLETON: It obj ec t to that. 

THE COURT: Objection sustained). At the begiauii 

of the term of .employ,Ment of this defendant as money 

Clerk ,was that; at thebeginning? 

MR., GRAY: At the beginning-. 

THE COURT: After which this man served as mO 

clerk. 

MR. GRAY: YosT ;sir.  

R134-RE-DIRIXT EXAMINATION BY 14R. APPLETON: 

Q, I show you Peoples" Exhibit 8, and ask you: first, 

during the time that yr. 'Whitely was employed there at the 

Express Company's office , you saw him write? Will 'you glust 

put down the sheet in your lap and listen to me a moment, the 

question will be repeated after. I am through. 

(Question read ty Stenographer) 

MR. APPL2TON: Will you. put that &test down iryouXr-

lap and lie ten to the question, and answer it yes Orr. IDA 



*. 

No sir; I did not. 

MR. APPLETON: That is al . That is•an-

That is 

ALR. GRAY. Now, I renew my' TITO tions e 

of the case for a disposition on the same ground 

MR. APPLETON: It seems to me that it would 

per to rest first, and give the Peoplean Opportuni 

• to call witnesses in rebuttal. 

MR. GRAY: Oh, well, .it is assumed that I ha 

ed. 

THE DEFENCIERBsTS 

THE PEOPLES' REBUTTAL 

FRANK J. .MITHI oalled a0 tiwitne 

People, being duly sworn testifies as follOWs: 

DIRECT EXAMINATION BY MR, kfreolTNT: 

. Mr. Smith I in the month Of Taltutry of tbise.. W 

were you? A 148th Street and Bergen Avenue. 

Q, And by whom and for Whom Were you working? 

Adams Express Cbmpanyr. 

Q, In what capacity? A As helper. 

Q For whom? A The Adams Express Company'. 

What particular driver were you with? -A WLU 

llbw, did you go in with 'ord when he made 



the defendant,Whit ely, 

or *? A Well 

Q, Yes or rro? A Yes. 
Now 

Q.; /Were you there how many. tim 

January? Can you tell that? 

MR. GRAY: I object;to th 

terial to the issues here. 

THE COURT: Allowed. 

MR. GRAY: I will take an exception. 

THE WITNESS: Five timee. 

BY MR. APPLETON: 

Q Did you a t any time see 

stand there) inSide or near the 

t as incompetent an 

the witness Irene Whitely 

cashier ca is when you and P 

went in to make returns to NV114 telly? . 

(1 What? A No air". 

MR. APPLETON: That is all, 

CROSS EXAMINATION BY. MR. GRAY: • 

How long have you .been a driven t 8 heper A .Si 

months. 

Q Six months? A Yea sir. 

q What was your position before that? A Mbney oler4  

Q. Money clerk? How long were you money clerk therel 

A About a year, 

qj Were you discharged from that position Or were .5rou 

transferred to your present one? A I was neither% 



Q How did you come to change from il.f3infOlitint 

being driVer s helper"? A I resigned% 

Q. You resigned?? A Yes, sir. 

Q,• Why d id you re 13 ign? A P r my health. 

TAR. APPLia ON: I obj ec t to tha t as inn* te7 

THE COURT: Yes, obj eat ion sustained% 

BY MR. GRAY: 

Q You resigned as money cleric? A Yea 

Was there any shortage four i your Ewalt:0.1m 13, 

you left la 13 money clerk? A No, sir. 

Q, Sure of that? A NO. 

WILLIAM 3. PORD, recall ed*: 

RE4RE-DIREgT EXAMINATION ITY APPLETON: 

Q When did you ttive the defendant the ,Sum Of MO 

02.50, if that is the correct amount? A. On :Email" t. 

Q Are you sure of that? A Yes, sir; 

Q, I show you Peoples! Exhibit 1 and call your fate* 

tion to the items all of the items on the left hand page 'nde 

date of Jwary 9th, and ask you  if all those items *ere on 

that page when the defendant, Whitely, signed his name hie 

rame , "Whitely" on the opposite page? A Yes, sir. 

Q, And was that money d elivered to the defendant on that 

day? A On that day, January the 9th. 
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Q Nbw, did you a tiny time, after th 

and before' the 16th-- we will say the ).'7th 

1909, go to the defendant Whitely, and _give him 

tell Whitely that you had made a collection of 

that you would owe him $10.5.0 and that you would pay 

you got it from your pay, when you were paid off on gittUr. 

A No, sir. 

Did you ever have any such conversation• with him? 

A No, sir.. 

Q  Did you ever see the witness, Irene Whitely, at 

cashierlscase, at any time when you made returns of /sone 

Whitely? A To sir, I 

there. 

Did you ever before today? A I saw her in CoUirt 

yesterday. 

Q, Did you eter see her before yesterday? A No, 

MR. APPLETOTT: That is all, The People Maki 

MB. GRAY: The defense rests. 

BOTH SIDES BEST 

ISR. GRAY: I make a foxmal motion to renew my prevk 

vitus motion Made at the close of the peoples' Damn on 

the same grounds 

TitE COURT: On the same grounds? 

1.1Tt. GRAY: v'o tion denied% 



Gray suma U 

-Nr. Appleton suns up 

People. 
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THE PIDOPLE 

0 ' SITLLIVAN, J. 

Gentlemen of the Turyi the defendant at the Vzir 

charged with grand larceny in the second degree: Nk) gr 

larceny in the secorid degree • is committed whenever a per,s0 

steals or unlawfully appropriates- an amount of property •Tel_ 

ed at more than $9‘Itout not exceeding $500; one who steals 

or .unlawfully appropriates property above the value of - 

*25, Itou.t not above the value of $500 is gwilty of grand lar-

ceny in the second degree. 

Now, this defendant, in the indictment, has ‘beeir 

charged with stealing an amount of money in excess Of 254 tat 

not in excess of $500. The total sum which the indictment ' 

3. OitN W, WHITELY'. 

New York, April 1 

CHAR •G E TO J.1P,11 

- 

charges as having been stolen is $110:86 in money, and the 

first charge against him is that he committed the 014140 Of 

dgrand larceny4egree b3r takitig such property' felonibuslIr'ft 

the Adams Express Cbmpany; that is to say, with intent' te. 

deprive the true owner of Ms property, he took it,,or flth 

language of the law, did steal, take and carry away that eim 

of money. 

If you find, beyond a retisonable doubt,' that that 

is true, it would be your duty to convict of that charge. 



There an  count in the in 

substantially, the doing of the sum thing; 

the services 'which the defendant .was giving 

puny, when he feloniously, according to the ind 

took some money. That is to say, that if sist person -

tent to defraud the true owner of his money, white tLa 

person is the servant of the agent, or the clerk, as t 

says, of an associatiOn or corporation, having in his 

sessionl, property, money, or 'under' his control any mairel, 

or property, appropriate that money to his Own use,. Ova, 

he steals such property then* and is guilty of larotnr 

if that property be above twenty-five dollars in valUe. 

and under five hundred dollars in value, it is grand Itirmb 

cenr in the seCond degreei 

Now, then, you see the first count simply alXsgea, 

that the defendant- did criminally, felontously stk 

and carry  away that property: 

Now, that is without any regard at all to his iS 

cri-1 
vices, 19 way that a man might steal, take or otorrr-, 

away with intent to deprive the true owner of his praptr 

without describing his relations, to, the principal train,. 

whom he stole it, or anything el se: Hitt , as the law:SsYSi,. 

if it is stolen in any war. Well, thie. first count siinp4'. 



t.e.47,17. 

lays down to you  that he did wit4 Trim 

property. 

Then we come t the next  cOuti and vre ecisk, 

the next .count.. In the net coiuit yotti 
of ac 

transact in and yet chorge a different kthd, 

the same act, the same amount of money stolen. 

There was one time when 'a man in the eiaplOyMen:t .01" 

the C'ompanyr, because he received the money, but ireeretrOdel-

it lawfully, you understand, and then took it to Ste ovht : 

use, that was embezzlement, itipt our law, today no longer 

calls that embezzlement, it calls it- theft, which 

quite as polite a word for it. It calls it larceny, 

al though a raa n may begin by getting this' money in a law—

ful method,- that is to say, it is handed over to him, the 

difference in the methods of  thieves are these; the thief 

takes it unlawfully  at the very' first . moment ,he touchesr 

that money; that is an unlaw t • but the man who ...reattiirea 

the money in the ordinary cou-rse of.;bueiness, he received 

it lawfully, but the moment that man received that money 

with the intent to devote it to his own use and does devOtis 

it to his own use, under our law, he.is 13 BUM h a thief 

Et B the thief who takes from your  pocket. 

NtYcv, then, Gentlemen, the question here is, trot what 

therrrioneys this man handled, not what other moneys anybody 



else handled but is the indictment 

did appropriate criminally and with intent 

true owner of that money. There is the .que0' 

find that lie reced it  then and there MS 

or felon-Vous tetent in his failure to turn it over 

Cbmpany, then he is -entitled to an acquittal 

it,
 
all the testimonyrand all the testimon7 relates as 

1 

know, to this transaction. If a man were ignorant of 

methods, and through some mistaken transaction the money 

slipped away, and he had no guilty intent in its disappeti 

ance or no connection with it* why, then he is no 

But if you find from the facts in the case, that no Mi. 

what the raan,,s duties were, if, he were there long ,e 

to understand the methods and he did understand,  

did receive this money, and he knew .\,that the proper, *I. 

to do with it; was, and he did not do the proper th 

but did the improper thing, you ask yourselves ritftit 

if that improper thing was done with what intent/ 

it done with that intent? With 'What intent Was it done? 

And if you find it was the intent to deprive the asseOlike7. 

tion of that money, you will find the defendant fpatilt  

In every criminal action the defendant is presumed 

to be innocent until the contrary appears, and that the 

contrary must be established 'beyond a reasonable doubt in 

order te onvic t You oarry yri th 7rou into the ,Tury box 



linr,n,t1=Attel-L, 

that same intelligence whi 

•: • 

C use n the tranOaili, 

of your important affairs on the outside; and you .de 

Ft jubt that amount of intellect that you  devote to any -

ordinary businestransaetiorr of your own-. There is no-

thing alma* mys teribus about th.e. intelligence which, a 

man carries into the services of his dellowmen, 

the same intelligence Ishich he uses every 

using that, use  it to detemtine in thi 

er or not there is evidence satisfying you to tar extent 

sufficient to convict. That is to say, is there any rea-

sonable doubt in this thing. If therebe none, convict.. 

If there) be., after that intelligent, reasonable and j'US 

examination which you have given this testimony, then it 

will be your duty to acuit the .defendant. 

Are thereany r °quests to charge? 

MR. GRAY: I will Link your Honor to charge 

evidence of good character ratLy of itself create a doub 

in the minds of a jury. 

THE COURT: 
of itself 

yes, evidence may/create a doubt ill 

the minds of the Jury where) but for the introduction Of 

that ewid e net no reasonable doubt would exist, and I NW 

again, gentlemen, that it may, 

Ii would not say to you- concerning any facts 

that you find, that you must do this /or do that. You &tr. 



the ea of the: facts, and if you 

character testitiony 'of such a natUr 

Bonably doubtful whether this man contri 

why, that would be a reasonable doubt; but it i 

p say from the character of the testimony wheat 

s any reasonable doubt.. 

MR. APPLETON: po you consent that the Jurors - 

Peoples' Exhibit No. 1 into the jury rot:ft with then 

MR. GRAY: I would desire that filey do it. 

THE COURT,: Gentlemen will have such exhibittai 

counsel are satisfied that they should haves 

All the exhibits were taken into the jury0 

by the Tury. 

THE COURT' Gentlemen, the Case is with you. 

not gut 1 ty 

THE COURT : Any other charge?' 

. APPLETON: No other charges 

THE COURT: Defendant d ischargedis 
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